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Wednesday, March 1, 2006


‑‑‑ Upon commencing at 9:30 a.m.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Please be seated, thank you.

     Good morning, everyone.  By letter dated November 4th,

2004, the Minister of Energy directed the Ontario Energy

Board to review West Coast Huron Energy Inc.'s electricity distribution rates.  The rates to be reviewed are those ordered by the Board in 2001 under Board file number RP-2000-0263.

     The Board has assigned case number EB-2004-0513 to this proceeding.  In effect, it is an application for review brought by Sifto (Canada) Inc. with respect to those distribution rates.  


May I have appearances, please.


APPEARANCES:

     MR. MILLAR:  Good morning, Mr. Chairman.  Michael Millar for Board Staff.  To my left is Mr. Lee Harmer and to my right is Mr. Harold Thiessen.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Morning, sir.  My name is James

Sidlofsky, counsel to West Coast Huron Energy.  To my right is Larry McCabe from West Coast Huron.  To my left is Bruce Bacon.

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  Neal Smitheman, counsel for Sifto, with Jennifer Egsgard to my left.  And can I introduce the panel that we propose to call initially, if you would like to at this time.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Well, let's see if there are any preliminary matters, Mr. Smitheman, and we'll go from there. 


Anyone else seeking to be recognized by the Board this morning?  Are there any preliminary matters?


PRELIMINARY MATTERS:

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sir, late in the day yesterday, I provided copies to my friends and to Board Staff and to the

Board Secretary as well of CVs of our witness panel.  I expect that those will be entered when West Coast puts its case in.  There was also a chart that was prepared by

Mr. Bacon, and Mr. Bacon will be referring to that in his testimony.

      There are also copies of two real-time pricing II agreements; one from 1997, one from 2000.  I believe the Board –- the Panel has copies of those.  Those, I expect -- I'm in the Board's hands on that.  If you would like to enter them as exhibits now, that's fine.  Otherwise we can do them when West Coast puts its case in.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Is it your intention, Mr. Sidlofsky, to call witnesses in this case?

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  We do have a witness panel planned, sir.  Yes.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  And so I would think the appropriate time to introduce those documents would be through your witnesses.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  That had been my thought.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Smitheman, any comment on that?

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  No, sir. 
     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.  


Is there anything else?  


Mr. Smitheman?

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  Yes.  Without further ado, then, what I will start with first is an introduction of the panel.


Starting on my immediate left is Mr. Rowland Howe, and then to his left is Mr. Snelson, and then finally, Mr. Hopeson, who will all be providing evidence by way of a panel.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Should we swear those witnesses now,

Mr. Smitheman?

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  Yes, please, if we could.

     MS. SPOEL:  Could you come forward, please.


SIFTO (CANADA) INC. – PANEL 1:


Jim Hopeson; Sworn.


John Kenneth Snelson; Sworn.


Rowland Howe; Sworn.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  You may proceed, Mr. Smitheman.

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  Thank you.  


OPENING STATEMENT BY MR. SMITHESON:   

MR. SMITHEMAN:  I might start by just providing some background materials with respect to the three panel members, CVs for each of them, if I can borrow my friend's copies.  And if I might hand a number of copies forward.

     First, Mr. Timothy Howe’s -- Rowland Howe's CV.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  We'll enter those as exhibits.  


Any comment, Mr. Sidlofsky?

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  No, I have no problem with that.

     MR. MILLAR:  Exhibit K1.1.


EXHIBIT NO. K1.1:  CURRICULUM VITAE OF MR. ROWLAND


HOWE
     MR. SMITHEMAN:  Next the curriculum vitae of

Mr. James Hopeson.  I have extra copies if my friend needs those.

     MR. MILLAR:  K1.2.

EXHIBIT NO. K1.2:  CURRICULUM VITAE OF MR. JAMES HOPESON

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  And Mr. Snelson's curriculum vitae has been included in his affidavit, which is before the Board.

      And again, as a preliminary matter, what I should do is ensure that the Board has all the materials before it. 

We have the submissions and affidavit materials that were filed, including the affidavit of Mr. Greg Shelton, which is February 2nd, 2005, and that is bound in one volume entitled "Submissions of Sifto (Canada)".

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mm-hmm.

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  In addition to that there is supplementary affidavits submitted by Sifto (Canada) in a bound volume, which includes an index and which includes a subsequent affidavit of Mr. Snelson.  Those are the materials, effectively, filed by Sifto in these proceedings.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, sir.  The Board has those.

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  Okay.  Good.  Now, can the Panel hear me?  I'm suffering from a bit of a cold so I'm trying to speak up as much as possible.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  We certainly can.  And if we find any difficulty in that respect, we'll try to solve it electronically, Mr. Smitheman, if we can.  Do you have water?

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  I have water.  I'm fine.  I just want to make sure that the Panel can hear me.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.  

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  I'd like to start off with a brief overview.  What Sifto is seeking, and as set out in its original materials, is an order for a rehearing, pursuant to Rules 32 and 34 of the Ontario Energy Board Rules of Practice and Procedure, as well as a rehearing pursuant to 42 and 44 of the OEB Rules of Practice and Procedure.  I set that out in the materials.

      In addition to other relief that has been set out, there is new relief that's being sought, of course, with respect to the Board's decision of November 16th, 2001.  Not only are we asking for a rehearing, but of course we're asking that the Board vary its decision of November 16th following the -- that was the rehearing to implement just and reasonable rates payable by Sifto to West Coast from March 1 of 2001 forward.

      As well, we'll ask that future rates charged by West Coast to Sifto be adjusted accordingly, to the extent that they are dependent upon those 2001 rates.  We'll have more information on this through our panel.

      With respect to the first aspect, namely the motion for the rehearing, what the evidence will be from this panel and what we’ll show is that Sifto did not become aware of West Coast's application to the OEB until after the expiration of the filing for application -- for intervenor status.  We do not debate the point that there was notification in the newspapers.  We simply didn't see it.      

And one of the members of the panel will show that this comes as a little bit of a surprise.  There was no direct notification to Sifto.  Be that as it may, there's no issue with respect to the fact that notification was published.  It just wasn't seen by Sifto, unfortunately.

When Sifto did become aware of West Coast's application and the proposed rates, the evidence will show that it hired one Mr. Snelson, who is, as I pointed out, on the panel to advise.  And upon a brief review of the materials, Mr. Snelson will give evidence to the effect that he found some difficulties and some problems and advised Sifto to file an application for intervenor status at that time.      


Sifto responded.  Notwithstanding that they were past the deadline for filing such a notification, it nevertheless filed one.  Better late than never.  That was April 25th of 2001.  We don't know what happened to that letter.  We never received anything in terms of the Board's response, and intervenor status was simply not granted.  



That will be the evidence provided by the panel.      
The evidence will be that Sifto, while it was attempting to have discussions with West Coast, then found out in November what the decision of the Ontario Energy Board was, and it came as rather a surprise to them.  
They responded on November 21st, 2001, by making a formal request for a rehearing.  And on November 26, Sifto filed a notice of motion requesting a rehearing.      


Again, attempts were made during this period with West Coast, and there were discussions, to try to resolve this matter without the need for a rehearing.  And unfortunately that did not occur, and that's, of course, why we're here today.      


Another complication arose during this period, and that was, there was a legislative change.  As we know, Bill 210, as it's become known, came into effect, and ministerial approval needed to be obtained.    



What Sifto did in that regard, on December 13th, 2002 - pardon me for a second - was write to the then Minister of Energy.  And then on January 17th we received a letter from the Board, of 2003, stating that because of Bill 210 the Board took the position that the matter was discontinued and closed.      


Then, on July 10th of 2003, Sifto received a response from the Minister of Energy, effectively denied.  And on

October 24, 2003, Sifto submitted a new request to the new Minister of Energy.  There was no response.  Then on November 2nd of 2004, another letter was sent by Sifto to the Minister reminding the Minister of its request.      And then finally the Minister responded November 4th of 2004 with the letter that has been referred to hereto day directing the OEB to review this matter.  And thus this is how we ended up before this Panel today.      


With respect to the rehearing and why there should be a rehearing, it is the position of Sifto that there have been new facts that have arisen, and there are instances in the facts that were before the Board that were erroneous.      
As this Panel knows, Rule 42.01 of the OEB Rules of Practice and Procedure provides that:
     
“Any person may, by motion, request the Board to

review all or part of a final order or decision,

vary, suspend or cancel the order or decision."  


Similarly, Rule 42.02:

"A person who was not a party to the proceeding

must first obtain the leave of the Board by way

of a motion before it may bring a motion before
42.01."


With respect to the test for a rehearing, Rule 44.01 states that:

"A motion to review shall set out the grounds for motion that raise a question as to the correctness of the order or decision, which grounds may include:  Error in fact ...”


And that's one that we're relying upon, 

“and that new facts have arisen."  

And that's the other ground that we're relying upon,

that new facts have arisen.      


Now, there are various cases that can provide some assistance, but the general rule seems to be that the mere existence of new facts, change of circumstances, or inadequately disclosed information is not alone sufficient to warrant a re-opening of the proceeding.  The matter must be relevant and material.  Minor or inconsequential changes to the proposed business plans of the utility are not sufficient to justify a review.      


And I'm referring to the Consumer Gas Company case in the matter of a motion for review variance by Industrial Gas Users Association, RP-1999-001.  And we can provide copies of that decision subsequently.      


And what we're saying, and what the evidence that you'll hear, is that in Sifto’s case the new facts and information which was previously inadequately disclosed by West Coast relate to the impact of West Coast's proposed RUD model on Sifto, and the fact that the impact was not revenue-neutral, as is required.  These facts are relevant and material to the OEB's decision regarding what are just and reasonable rates to be charged by West Coast in 2001.      
The evidence will show that the matter is hardly minor, especially to Sifto, who have paid over $800,000 more than it otherwise would have.  And indeed, by recalculating the numbers and bringing it up to date today, it is now over a million dollars when one takes into consideration numerous other factors.  


In setting rates, the Board is required to set rates that are just and reasonable as informed by the following statutory requirements, and we refer briefly to the Ontario Energy Board Act, section 78.3.  

"The Board may make orders approving or fixing just and reasonable rates for the transmitting or distribution of electricity and for the retailing of electricity in order to meet a distributor's obligations under section 29 of the Electricity Act.”  


In addition, we rely upon the amendments to the OEB, 1998.

"The Board shall be guided by the following objectives:  Section 1.1, to protect consumers with respect to the price, adequacy, reliability, and quality of electricity;”

And the Board's mandate to fix just and reasonable rates under section 36.3, which is akin to 78.3, is unconditioned by directed criteria, and is broad.  The Board is expressly allowed to adopt any method it considers appropriate.

The evidence will show that with respect to the information that was before the Board and the calculation that was approved by the Board in November was incorrect.      
In addition to that, and what is extremely important with respect to this motion for a rehearing, is that in the materials of West Coast there's an explicit admission that there were errors.  


The first is that there was double-charging of power factor penalties.  So we see that, on the admission of West Coast, that the materials that were before this Panel previously -- pardon me, before this Board previously, was in error.  And that amount of overcharging in 2001 amounted to something like $74,495.  And then after market opening, it's a total of $141,555.  Not to be too exact.


In addition, West Coast has admitted that with respect to the diversity credit there was an error.  The Rate

Handbook says:



“Diversity adjustment credits shall be removed 



when market opens."


West Coast did not issue a credit.  And this is in the -- this will be in the evidence of Mr. Snelson and, in fact, it's been agreed to by West Coast through one Mr. Bacon in his affidavit materials.


This resulted in an overcharging of $113,000, approximately, in 2001.  And then the total overcharged that's updated is $163,283.  And Mr. Snelson will provide more evidence on that.


In addition, from some of the materials that have been filed by way of affidavit from West Coast, there appears to be an admission that the wrong coincidence factors had been used in the materials that were presented to this Board at first instance.  And lo and behold, most recently West Coast has raised the issue that there had been some administrative fees that had been omitted.  And of course, we deny that these administrative fees are owing by Sifto, but in any event, administrative fees are something that should have been taken into account in first instance when this matter was heard before the Board in November.


This is all information that, by the admission of West Coast, wasn't before the Board when it made its decision in November of 2001.


So, when we talk about errors in fact by the admission of West Coast alone, even before we get to the evidence that's going to be provided by their panel, in my respectful submission, there's sufficiently new information and sufficient evidence of errors in fact to warrant a rehearing today.


I will briefly just go over, in my opening, what this

Board is going to hear with respect to the expert evidence of our witnesses, as well as the lay evidence of one of the panel members.


The evidence on the rehearing will show that the

Ontario Energy Board did not approve distribution rates that were just and reasonable, as is required.  And the reason is simply, as I've stated, that West Coast has miscalculated the rate by using incorrect information.  There is a philosophical disagreement, from what I've seen in the materials, between the approach that our expert says should be taken and the approach that West Coast's expert says should be taken.

     The difference in between, there is little -- there is little disagreement with respect to the matters that I've pointed out, diversity credits, and numerous other information.  The point is that there isn't a lot of disagreement with respect to how one does one's calculations.  The main difference is in the philosophical approach and what should have been taken into consideration by this Board when it made its decision in 2001.


Mr. Snelson will testify that there were a number of errors committed resulting in Sifto overpaying approximately, as I've stated $ 850,000.


First, in determining the distribution rates in the RUD model, West Coast had failed to account for incremental RTPII costs.  This, as well, has been admitted by West Coast.  


Now, in fairness to my friends representing West Coast, their response is, while there may have been an error, nevertheless we got the right number but for the wrong reasons.  Well, in my respectful submission, that does not suffice.  What is required is to get the right number based on the right reasons and the right information.  And that's why we're here today.

     In determining the distribution rate, Mr. Snelson will tell you that in the RUD model that West Coast had provided, it had failed to account for these incremental RTPII rates, and any decrease in power costs, of course, will result in an increase in the distribution rate.

      Second, what Mr. Snelson will try to convince this Board of is that the RTPII rates in the RUD should not have been used but large-user rates should have been used, since Sifto had elected to become a large user by this time, by the time that the unbundling took place, before the unbundling actually took place, and based on the information provided to them by West Coast.


What Mr. Snelson will show is that the wrong numbers were used and the wrong approach was adopted.  In order to obtain revenue neutral -- in order to obtain revenue neutrality, large-user rates should have been used in the RUD model.  And Mr. Snelson will take us through that information and materials, and show us what the result of that is when that approach is used.


By not using large-user rates and by using the RTPII rates in the RUD, it resulted in West Coast's revenue increase for Sifto in the first eight months after unbundling of -- an increase of $250,000.  That was almost a 10 percent increase in Sifto's total electricity bill for the first eight months.  That's hardly revenue-neutral.  


And what Mr. Snelson will testify to is that that's when the bells go off, that’s when the flags are raised.  The whole idea for the unbundling and the philosophy behind the unbundling is that it must be revenue neutral.  It wasn't.  It wasn't from the beginning revenue neutral, and there must be something wrong.  That was Mr. Snelson's first clue, and from this he did an analysis and found lots of things wrong.  And he'll provide that evidence.


Now, I've gone through the admitted errors by West Coast, and Mr. Snelson will provide us with additional information with respect to those.  Finally, what we'll address is what should be done to redress the balance, and how can that be done.


I break that down into two areas, and Mr. Snelson will provide further evidence of this, along with Mr. Hopeson.  What Mr. Hopeson will provide evidence of is how the overpayment for the power factor and the diversity credit went directly to the benefit of West Coast and, of course, to the benefit of West Coast's shareholders.  That, coupled with the evidence of Mr. Snelson, will show that on the latest calculation there's approximately $304,838 that has gone to the benefit of West Coast.


Our submission is that that amount should be disgorged from West Coast.  They got the benefit of it, their shareholders got the benefit of it, and it's simply monies owing and it should be paid back to Sifto, properly paid. 

There was double-dipping on the power factor, and the diversity credits were not granted.


In addition, Mr. Snelson will show that the refund that we say is owed to Sifto, some $858,000, that this refund could affect other classes.  And so it's a delicate situation, and Mr. Snelson has a proposal that will allow for this refund to be provided to Sifto without having a significant ramification on the other classes of consumers.      


In other words, what we're saying is that we can structure the refund so that we don't have to go back and deal with the other classes and the other consumers, because, of course, as this Board knows, what affects one class can have an impact on the other class of consumers.      
Mr. Snelson will suggest to this Board that it's possible that we can deal with that $858,000 as a prudently incurred cost so that its recovery will be prospective and shared by all classes of users in the future.  It's a solution that we will propose.      


Subject to any questions, that is my opening submission, and I hope it provides the Board with some direction where the evidence is headed as far as Sifto is concerned.  

Any questions?

PROCEDURAL MATTERS:    


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Sidlofsky, and Mr. Smitheman, you've sort of segregated your argument into the sort of motion and then the rehearing aspect.  Mr. Sidlofsky, as I read the materials from March 11th, 2005, the submissions of West Coast, I didn't read those submissions as challenging the review per se but, rather, going to the merits of the propositions that Sifto is making.  Have I got that right?     


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  I think that's correct, sir.  That was the focus of our material last year.     


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  So is it safe at this stage for Mr. Smitheman to move on to the merits of the matter, rather than spending a whole lot of time on that preliminary aspect?     


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  I'd say it is.  I mean we're here to deal with the merits.  I think there's a bit of a difficulty in the Board's rules in that the Board has to deal with the motion, has to consider the rehearing.  But, in effect, the Board is rehearing the merits in any event.     
MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Indeed.  I think that the interests of the proceeding and all parties are served if we can move on to the merits, if there really isn't an issue about that.  Is that --     


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  I'm fine with that, sir, and our panel will be addressing the merits.     


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, sir.  

Mr. Smitheman, you can organize your examination accordingly.  May I say that it is generally the practice of this Board to let the affidavits speak for themselves, but in this case I think that there may be some merit in you taking the witnesses through this to clarify these issues.  This is a very technical case, in many respects.    


And if I can just caution both sides:  This is a numbers-driven case in many aspects, and it's exceedingly important, if the Board can ask you to be very clear about the submissions that you're making with respect to numbers so that we have a very clear record as to exactly what it is that's being claimed, exactly how we got there, and that sort of thing, so that we're not left with ambiguities about these numbers which can't be resolved from the record.  


Thank you.  You may proceed, Mr. Smitheman.     



MR. SMITHEMAN:  Thank you.  That should shorten some of the evidence that I proposed to elicit for the Board. I'll just take a minute to see if I can reduce that, because in some of the materials, I wasn't sure if we were going to be dealing with the motion for rehearing as well as the merits.     


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  May I indicate, we'll look to take our morning break around 11 o'clock, and sit until probably about 12:30, and then come back at 1:30, and look to finish at 4, with probably a short break in the afternoon.     


MR. SMITHEMAN:  While I'm on that point, as a bit of a sidebar, there were some discussions about possible written submissions at the end.  Is that what the Board prefers, or has it not made up its mind at this point?     


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I suppose this is a convenient time to raise that question.  It occurred to the Board that one option that we might be interested in in this case would be to ask for written argument and have the parties, and certainly counsel, return for a brief presentation based on the written material, and to be available for questions.      So we wouldn't be looking to having counsel read the written submissions that they would file but rather a short presentation surrounding them, and then be available for questions based on the written materials.     


That's a model that we have considered as we looked at the subject matter of this case.  And it's really for your consideration.  Why don't we just simply plant that seed and we can come back to that question later.  We're certainly glad to hear submissions pro and con on that approach.     


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sir, I'm happy to tell you now that we support the approach of written submissions.  We would certainly be prepared to come back and make a brief presentation following that.  I think, given the circumstances here and the fact that it is numbers-driven -some of the issues are fairly complex here - I think it would assist the Board to have a written submission as well.     


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Smitheman?     


MR. SMITHEMAN:  Yes, absolutely.  


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  So we'll proceed on that basis. We'll think about time frames for that and ask you to do that too, and I'll ask Board Staff to start looking for a half-day, which is all that we will need for the return, for this short presentation and questions.  So we'll look for a half-day in the not-too-distant future.    


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sir, just before my friend starts, I was just thinking about your comment about the motion versus the merits.     


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mm-hmm.  


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  I'm not about to change my mind on that.  Our panel, as you can see here from the material, is certainly here to deal with the merits.  But one thing I should mention is one of the conclusions that comes out of our material, out of West Coast's material, is that this matter, essentially the Board should maintain the status quo for the time being.     


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mm-hmm.     



MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And deal with these issues in the course of its cost-allocation work, which is underway now. In fact, that was one of the issues discussed in, I believe it was, Minister Baird's letter in turning down the request that this matter be sent back to the Board.  That was during the currency of Bill 210.      


My point, sir, is simply that, on the merits, and given all that you'll hear from our panel, the appropriate approach at this time is to maintain the status quo and deal with this as a matter going forward.  I simply raise that because I don't want to find at the end of this process that I'm faced with the question of, Well, do you either redo the application or do you make the changes but there's no opportunity to maintain things as they are now, because that's the reasonable outcome.  Mr. Bacon will be speaking to that on the West Coast panel.     


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I would certainly regard it as being within the Board's palette of remedies, if you like, or approaches to this question, to the kind of thing that you've described.  I don't think the fact that we're dealing with the merits of the motion prejudiced that as a potential outcome, and we are certainly prepared to listen to submissions on that when the time comes.     



MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thank you, sir.    


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, Mr. Sidlofsky.     



MR. SMITHEMAN:  Without further ado, then, I'm going to first direct some questions to Mr. Rowland Howe, who is to my immediate left.
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EXAMINATION BY MR. SMITHEMAN:


MR. SMITHEMAN:  Sir, could you tell us what is your current position with the company?     


MR. HOWE:  I'm the manager of the Sifto mine in Goderich.     


MR. SMITHEMAN:  And how long have you held that position?     

 
MR. HOWE:  For ten years now.     


MR. SMITHEMAN:  Describe just briefly some of your responsibilities.  You have provided a curriculum vitae, I see, but if you could just highlight briefly some of your responsibilities in that regard.     


MR. HOWE:  The Sifto salt mine is a large mining operation operating in the town of Goderich and, for the most part, under Lake Huron.  It employs over 350 people.  And my responsibilities are everything from full budgetary control of the mine, operations, the health, safety, welfare and productivity.     


MR. SMITHEMAN:  Who is Mr. Gregory Shelton?      



MR. HOWE:  Mr. Greg Shelton was director of purchasing for Sifto.  He's now vice president in our Kansas office.     
MR. SMITHEMAN:  In Kansas, the United States; is that correct?

     MR. HOWE:  That’s right.

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  And he swore an affidavit in this matter dated February 2nd, 2005 that's been filed with the Board; is that correct?

     MR. HOWE:  That's correct.

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  And have you had an opportunity to review that affidavit?

     MR. HOWE:  I have.

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  And do you agree with the materials and facts presented in that affidavit?

     MR. HOWE:  I do.

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  Do you have access to the information that formed the basis for Mr. Shelton's affidavit?

     MR. HOWE:  Yes, I do.

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  And do you adopt the affidavit of Mr. Shelton?

     MR. HOWE:  I do.

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  Describe the mine operation, then, briefly for the Board, please.

     MR. HOWE:  The mine operation.  We are mining rock salt, which is used all around the Great Lakes region to de-ice roads primarily, in winter.  It's an operation that extends over two and a half miles out into Lake Huron, produces over 6 million tons a year, and is a large user of electricity.

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  And from whom does it purchase that electricity?

     MR. HOWE:  We purchase electricity through West Coast, from IESO.

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  And who is IESO?

     MR. HOWE:  That's the Independent Electric Supply –


MR. SMITHEMAN:  System Operator.  

     MR. HOWE:  System Operator.

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  It wasn't a trick question.  Sorry about that.  


At what distribution rate -- first of all, who distributes the electricity to Sifto?

     MR. HOWE:  West Coast Huron Energy, and we're in the large-user class.

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  Okay.  What was the base year total electrical bill at the mine in 1999?

     MR. HOWE:  About $3.1 million.

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  All right.  And what was the mine's electrical rate based on in 1999?

     MR. HOWE:  At that time we were on the RTPII tariff, which was about 5 percent of our overall usage; 95 percent was large-user class.  

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  This is in 1999; is that correct?

     MR. HOWE:  That's right 


MR. SMITHEMAN:  All right.  And when you say RPTII, for the record, that's real-time pricing; correct?

     MR. HOWE:  That’s right.

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  And how long had Sifto been on the RTPII rate?

     MR. HOWE:  From February 1st, 1997, until January,

2001.

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  And do you know the date in January?

     MR. HOWE:  31st, it was at the end of January.

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  What happened?  Why the change?

     MR. HOWE:  It was no longer the most economic option for us.  Our power usage varies with demand, with our production levels, and we were constantly looking to see what was the best option for us.

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  And what evidence did you rely on in coming to that determination?

     MR. HOWE:  In part, we were getting alternative billing from Goderich at the time to show us what the large-user class costs would have been.

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  And when you say you were getting alternative billing, who was providing that to you?

     MR. HOWE:  Goderich Hydro.

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  And as a sample of that, I believe you've provided alternative bills in your affidavit that's before the Board, February of 2006.

     MR. HOWE:  That's right.

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  Is that correct?  And it can be seen in Exhibit A to those materials.  Is that correct?

     MR. HOWE:  That's correct.

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  In February, first, I take it, of 2001, your evidence is that Sifto reverted to the large-user rate for all purchases; is that correct?

     MR. HOWE:  That's correct.

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  Correct.  Why didn't Sifto participate in West Coast's application to determine unbundled distribution rates?

     MR. HOWE:  We weren't aware of it.

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  Did that strike you as odd?

     MR. HOWE:  Yes.  We represent over 40 percent of the total power usage in the town of Goderich.

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  And when did you first become aware of the proposed rate increases?

     MR. HOWE:  That was in late -- sorry, early 2001, after the announcement had been made.

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  After the announcement had been made.  And what, if anything, was done?

     MR. HOWE:  We actually asked Mr. Snelson to review our bills and the proposed rate change.

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  And as a result of that what happened?

     MR. HOWE:  We filed for late-intervenor status with the Board.

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  Okay.  Just to put this in perspective, sir, could you tell us, what was the initial effect on the mine's electrical costs after the unbundling and the decision of the Board in November of 2001?

     MR. HOWE:  Initially, there was an invoice received for over $250,000, I think it's $251,000, which was in excess of -- it was 9.9 percent of our billing, for that eight-month period.

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  For an eight-month period?

     MR. HOWE:  For an eight-month period.

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  And what, if anything, did that indicate to you as a user?

     MR. HOWE:  We had been led to believe that 3 percent was more appropriate, and this was closer to 10 percent.

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  And what was your response with respect to the notion of revenue neutrality?

     MR. HOWE:  It didn't seem revenue neutral to us.

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  All right.  


Now, you mentioned that you filed a request for intervenor status early in the process, in April of 2001; is that correct?

     MR. HOWE:  That's correct.

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  And what happened?  Do you know what happened to that?

     MR. HOWE:  Uncertain.  We didn't get any sort of response on it, and we'd been led to believe that the Board was busy with a number of these.  And it didn't worry us unduly at the time.

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  And then the request for a rehearing was made, as I understand it.  It's set out in the affidavit of Mr. Gregory Shelton, which is dated February 2nd, 2005, at paragraphs 19 to 28; is that correct?

     MR. HOWE:  That's correct.

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  Now, could you tell us what, if anything, was West Coast's response to the concerns raised by Sifto that there had been a miscalculation?

     MR. HOWE:  There were a number of meetings and discussions, one particular meeting in June of 2002, where we met with the board of West Coast, and their consultants and our consultants, for pretty extensive talks on how we could reasonably settle the matter.

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  You said with your consultants and their consultants.  I take it this was between or included Mr. Snelson and Mr. Bacon; is that correct?

     MR. HOWE:  Yes, that's correct.

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  All right.  And do you recall the response of West Coast with respect to some of those concerns raised by Sifto through Mr. Snelson?

     MR. HOWE:  Yes, that there were some -- some mistakes had been made, particularly the RTPII issue and the half-factor and diversity credit matters, which affected the way the rates should have been calculated.

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  And what about administrative costs?  Was that an issue that was raised?

     MR. HOWE:  That was raised.  That's a historical charge that is associated with the RTPII tariff.  It represented a billing of $96,000 at the time.  This was something we'd never agreed to, never been previously billed for, and this was brought forward as part of discussions around these rates.

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  All right.  And was there any such agreement, to your knowledge, written or otherwise?

     MR. HOWE:  None signed.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I'm sorry, I didn't hear that answer.

     MR. HOWE:  Yes, we didn't -- there was no agreement signed on the basis of those administrative charges.

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  Can you describe, just generally, what your relationship has been with West Coast over these years?

     MR. HOWE:  Well, with the town of Goderich, it's been pretty good.  You know, we're a significant part of the town.  A lot of our employees live in the town.  We've had joint ventures around the port, the purchase of the port and the operation of the port.  The new recreation centre was partially funded by Sifto, and a number of other projects have been worked with, in conjunction with the town.  I think we've worked well with them, and it certainly led me to believe that there was an opportunity to resolve this matter without being here today.

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  Mr. Snelson, can you describe your current position to the Board, please.

     MR. SNELSON:  At the moment I work for a company called Snelson International Energy, which is myself, one employee.  I provide consulting services to a variety of clients.  The Association of Major Power Consumers has been a continuing client over the last 12 or 13 years, but there have been a number of other clients over that time period.  And the consulting has been in the area of electricity industry restructuring, electricity markets, and electricity rates.     


MR. SMITHEMAN:  And there's a curriculum vitae that's been provided as Exhibit A to your affidavit, sworn February 2nd, 2005; is that correct?     


MR. SNELSON:  That's correct.     


MR. SMITHEMAN:  And if we could briefly go to that, I see some of the relevant activities that you've listed.  In 2000 you represented AMPCO at the Ontario Energy Board.  What did you do with respect to that matter?     


MR. SNELSON:  This was one of the working groups of the Board that was looking at how to pass through wholesale market services and transmission charges, which were covered as part of Chapter 11 of the Board's Distribution Rate Handbook.  And this is one of a number of working groups of the Ontario Energy Board that I have participated on in the last number of years.      


The most relevant one to this proceeding is that in 1999 I was a member of the Board-sponsored performance-based regulation task force on distribution rates, and more particularly I was on the working group that discussed and came up with the rationale and the methodology for unbundling distribution rates into their distribution rate and cost-of-power components.  And that is the method which was then brought forward into the Distribution Rate Handbook and which has been used as the basis for unbundling for West Coast and all other utilities across the province.     


MR. SMITHEMAN:  Have you testified previously as an expert witness?     


MR. SNELSON:  Yes, I have.     


MR. SMITHEMAN:  In what capacity?  


MR. SNELSON:  Most recently I testified for Abitibi Consolidated and for Casco - that's, I believe, a Canadian starch company - with respect to transmission rates and the treatment of transmission rates with respect to embedded generation.  That's the most recent experience.      


I also testified on the Hydro One case on distribution rates for AMPCO, where the issue was how to charge for low-voltage rates for embedded distributors and for direct customers of Ontario Hydro, or of Hydro One, as they now are.     


MR. SMITHEMAN:  I'm putting forward Mr. Snelson and qualifying him as an expert in the area for the determination of electrical rates in Ontario and that he could provide expert evidence on this matter.  I don't know what my friend's position is, if he wants to cross-examine on Mr. Snelson's credentials or if he's going to accept him as an expert witness.  At this stage I would like to get a ruling from the Board on that issue.    


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Sidlofsky.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sir, I'm tempted to cross-examine Mr. Snelson on his credentials, but in fact I've relied on his credentials in the past, so I'm in a bit of a box.  I think I'm okay with Mr. Snelson.     


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  We will recognize Mr. Snelson as an expert with respect to his testimony here.     


MR. SMITHEMAN:  I didn't see this as a tough battle but I thought I should at least offer my friend an opportunity if he wanted to.     


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  It seemed not to be so in chief.


MR. SMITHEMAN:  Okay. 


Mr. Snelson, I understand that you were retained by Sifto in April of 2001, amongst other times; is that correct?     


MR. SNELSON:  That is correct.     


MR. SMITHEMAN:  And what was the purpose, sir?     


MR. SNELSON:  The purpose was that they had seen the application for unbundled distribution rates.  Mr. Shelton's initial impression was that this would imply increased costs for Sifto, and he asked me to review the submission.     


MR. SMITHEMAN:  And what did you do in that regard?     
MR. SNELSON:  I reviewed the submission.  I quickly determined that the RUD model that is used in this case did not have particular features to handle the peculiar circumstances of the real-time pricing II rate, and that this was a likely cause of -- a result of a high distribution rate for the large-user class, recognizing that Sifto is the only member of the large-user class in West Coast.  So Sifto and the large-user class in this case are synonymous.     


MR. SMITHEMAN:  And did you examine any materials that were provided to you?     


MR. SNELSON:  I examined the RUD model and the submission.     


MR. SMITHEMAN:  Yes?     


MR. SNELSON:  And those are the materials I examined.     
MR. SMITHEMAN:  All right.  Did that include the spreadsheet for the RUD model?     


MR. SNELSON:  The RUD model is essentially a very large Excel spreadsheet.     


MR. SMITHEMAN:  And if you could just outline for the Board and everyone here how the RTPII rate was taken into account, if you can recall.     


MR. SNELSON:  Well, I think the first thing to be clear about is what the RTPII rate is, or was.  It's no longer available.  Essentially, it was a rate that was initially offered by Ontario Hydro to its direct customers to allow them to take incremental power above their normal usage at a lower rate.  


This was deemed to be a good thing because at that time Ontario Hydro had surface generation, and it considered its incremental costs to be less than its average costs.  So it was a win-win situation to sell some incremental usage at lower than normal rates but still higher than Ontario Hydro's costs, and that there could be then a win-win situation.      


So the RTPII rate was structured to have a baseline which was normally the usage in the year before you went onto RTPII, and incremental amounts above that baseline would be charged at an hourly rate that was set the day before -- that would be 24 values set the day before, based on Ontario Hydro's expectation of its incremental cost on the next day.  So it was a rate for incremental power.      


And there were some requests that this option be made available to large users of municipal electrical utilities who, apart from being located in a municipal electric utility service territory, are essentially similar to the direct customers of the previous Ontario Hydro.  And it was thought that there was some benefit in making that option available through the municipal utilities to the large users of the municipal utilities.     


Sifto took up that option, and the way it was applied to Sifto is that Sifto's usage was used in the year before it went on to RTPII, was used to set a baseline.  Incremental usage above that would be charged at the RTPII rate, but the baseline - and this is a very important point – the baseline was charged at the normal large-user rate of West Coast Huron.     


MR. SMITHEMAN:  That was about 95 percent; am I right?     
MR. SNELSON:  That was 95 percent.     


MR. SMITHEMAN:  Okay.     


MR. SNELSON:  So 95 percent of the power they bought was at the large-user rate and 5 percent was at this incremental rate that varied hour by hour, as published the day before.  So there was no -- in the RUD model, there was no recognition of this type of rate.  And one of the factors that was quite quickly apparent was that the cost that Sifto paid for the incremental power, which, of course, West Coast had, in turn, to have bought from Ontario Hydro or, by that time, probably OPG.  That incremental power cost for that last 5 percent had been missed from the RUD model.  And I believe that's about 100 and -- if we want to be clear on numbers.

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  132,414, according to your paragraph 4 of your affidavit.

     MR. SNELSON:  Yes, to keep the numbers straight, $132,000 had been missed from the cost of power.  However, it had been added into the revenues that West Coast had received from Sifto, thereby contributing to an overstatement of the distribution revenue to be collected through the distribution rate of that amount.


During the summer of 2001, Sifto and West Coast had agreed that we could have some cooperative discussions between myself and the consultants to West Coast.

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  Who was that?

     MR. SNELSON:  At that time was R --

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  RCS, Regulatory Compliance Services.

     MR. SNELSON:  Regulatory Compliance Services.  And there were a number of meetings in the summer and early fall at which we discussed this issue and how the RUD model was used, and whether it could account for the RTPII or not.

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  RCS, by the way, just to point out, I believe, assisted West Coast in preparing its submissions.  Is that your understanding?

     MR. SNELSON:  That's my understanding.

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  Thank you.  So tell us what was discussed, then, at these meetings.

     MR. SNELSON:  Well, I brought up this issue of the

RTPII costs.

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  Go slowly.

     MR. SNELSON:  And after some backwards and forwards, they agreed that it had been missed, but then came to me and said, Ah, but the coincidence factors that have been used are assumed values that were given by the Ontario Energy Board as default values in the RUD model.  They don't represent the actual coincidence of the West Coast load with the -- sorry, the actual coincidence of the Sifto load with the West Coast load.


And they gave some revised coincidence factors, which are also in my affidavit.  If we turn to table 3, just to keep numbers straight --

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  That's page 11 of your affidavit.

     MR. SNELSON:  Page 11 of the February 2005 affidavit.

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  We have that.

     MR. SNELSON:  The original unbundle had coincidence factors of .981 for winter and .991 in the summer.  And the bottom row of that table shows what I've called informal actual values.  Those are the values that were given to me in 2001 by RCS; .912 winter, and .896 summer.


And on recalculating the RUD model with those values,

RCS indicated that that would then restore the distribution revenue to be collected from the large-user class to about the same level as in the original RUD model; therefore, things balanced out.

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  So, just to stop here at this point, I take it that a quick summary is that when -- Mr. Snelson, when you pointed out that there was $132,413 that had not been taken into account that should have been, the response from RCS was, Yes, you're right, but the coincidence factors that should have been taken into account were different, and they're set out in table 3 of your affidavit; is that correct?

     MR. SNELSON:  That's correct.

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  All right.  


Can we just step back briefly, and just give us that 30,000-foot overview of what this is all about.  Can you explain the whole unbundling procedure, just in general terms, and then take us back, then, to this discussion you had with RCS.

     MR. SNELSON:  The discussions on the working group that was looking at unbundling recognized very quickly that the best way of unbundling the rates would be to do cost-allocation studies.  And in the absence -- not having time to do cost-allocation studies before the requirement to unbundle the rates, a different method had to be found.

     And the method that was proposed, and was discussed in that working group and came through into the Distribution Rate Handbook, was to unbundle the rates based on the assumption that the existing rates which had been approved by the Ontario Hydro Regulatory Unit that regulated municipal electricity rates, that existing rates had an appropriate balance between distribution revenues and cost of power, and therefore one could work backward from the existing distribution rates and cost-of-power rates to determine what was the implied distribution revenue requirement for unbundling purposes.


So this was the equation that was, really, at the heart of it.  It's in the Distribution Rate Handbook, that distribution revenue for unbundling purposes equals the total revenues less the cost of power.  And as long as that equation is maintained, then unbundling should be revenue-neutral.  And this was to be done at a class level.  


So the purpose of the Distribution Rate Handbook was not necessarily to ensure revenue neutrality at a customer level, but to ensure revenue neutrality at a customer class level.  However, in this case, with one customer in the class, revenue neutrality at the class level would have ensured revenue neutrality at the customer level.

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  There's only one member of the class.

     MR. SNELSON:  Exactly.

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  Okay.  All right.

     MR. SNELSON:  So that was very clearly the basis for the unbundling.

     There was an unwritten assumption that the circumstances in 1999, the test year, would be reasonably representative of circumstances down the road.  And that was an unwritten assumption through this process that I think is important to the considerations in this case.

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  While we're on that topic, and speaking in general terms, can you explain the RUD and the purpose of it?

     MR. SNELSON:  The RUD model was an “assistance” to the utilities.  It was not a requirement that they use it, and there were also different ways in which it could be used. 

It's just a spreadsheet model in which you put in data, and it was organized in way that would make it easy for municipal utilities to do their rate unbundling.


However, there were provisos in the Distribution Rate

Handbook that if you had different circumstances you were supposed to make modifications.  If you wished to, you could do cost-allocation studies.  It was not a requirement, but it was an “assistance” to the utilities.  


And I think you'll see through the evidence of this case that even accepting it as the model, by varying the number that goes into the model, according to different rationales, then you can actually get different results.

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  In that regard, I'd like you to turn to Exhibit C of your affidavit, your first affidavit, which is entitled "Chapter 3:  Establishing Initial Unbundled Rates."  Do you have that?

     MR. SNELSON:  Yes.

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  And then turn to page 2, under heading 3.2, "Unbundling Current Rates."


And if you could read the third paragraph to us, beginning with, "Ideally..."

     MR. SNELSON:  Okay.



"Ideally, cost-allocation studies would be

available to guide the unbundling process.  Unfortunately, the studies that are available are old.  Hence, a simplified procedure is described here for unbundling existing rates.  Should a utility have better information on which to unbundle rates, they are encouraged to use such information as long as justification can be provided in support of initial rates.”

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  In your opinion, sir, does Sifto have better information than the RUD model information that was provided?

     MR. SNELSON:  Sifto has better information than the information that was input to the RUD model for this application.

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  And can that be justified in providing support for the initial rate?

     MR. SNELSON:  I think, yes, that is so, that you can

justify that on the basis of correcting the errors that had been made, but, more particularly, allowing for the fact that what is really required is an unbundling of the  large-user rate rather than an unbundling of the RTPII rate as it existed in 1999.

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  In these discussions with RCS, was there any additional information that you required?

     MR. SNELSON:  Yes.  When they suggested that the coincidence factors in the RUD model were incorrect, and they came forward with these additional values, I thought it reasonable to ask to see the evidence that would support those additional values in terms of the billing for the power between OPG, Ontario Power Generation, and West Coast, just to verify that they were, in fact, the correct numbers.

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  And did you receive that information?

     MR. SNELSON:  No, we did not.

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  Subsequently, in addition to the information, or the evidence that you provided today with respect to the error concerning the incremental costs, what else, if anything, did you learn with respect to wrongful calculations?

     MR. SNELSON:  Well, in effect the event was that the decision came down from the Board.

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  November of 2001?  


MR. SNELSON:  And Sifto received the recalculation of its bills for eight months.  It had originally been billed for those eight months on the large-user rates, which is the rate that it had been on.  And that was recalculated on to the basis of unbundling of the unbundled charges approved by the Board in their decision.  And this is where the $250,000 extra bill arose that Mr. Howe has told us about.

      And I started to go over -- I got the actual bills, the bills that were on the RTPII -- sorry, bills that were on the large-user rate and the bills on the unbundled rates, compared them, and said, there has to be a reason for this difference of a quarter of a million dollars.

And another factor that arose at that time was the double-counting of power factor penalties.  Power factor penalties revenue had been included in the RUD model to about $90,000 a year.  I will check that number but I think that's correct.


MR. SMITHEMAN:  Yes.

     MR. SNELSON:  Yes?  It is right?

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  Yes.

     MR. SNELSON:  To about $90,000 a year.  And yet -- and

so power factor penalties were implicitly included in the 

unbundled distribution rate.

      I noticed from the bills, after unbundling, that power factor penalties were continuing to be charged, and this occurred to me as being double-charging.  And that was another factor that I identified at that time.

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  Just on that last point, it's set out in your affidavit, paragraph 6, that the amount is $90,016 charged in power factor penalties in 1999?

     MR. SNELSON:  That's correct.

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  All right.

Then the information, as I understand it, if I look to your affidavit, that you reviewed can be found at Exhibit B to your affidavit.  Is that correct?  I don't need to take you through that, but that's the information that you used; is that correct?

     MR. SNELSON:  Yes.  Exhibit B, within the large block, the outlined block, is an extract from the West Coast RUD model.  And the calculations around the outside are to reconcile the revenue that was put into the model with the revenue from the bills, which is down below.  And within rounding error, including the power factor penalties in the billed amounts, then within rounding error, the two numbers correspond.

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  Armed with this information, what, if anything, did you do?

     MR. SNELSON:  Well, I had discussions, of course, with my client, and they then proceeded to ask for the rehearing of the unbundled rates process.

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  And were there any discussions with West Coast or any of its representatives?  What was their response? 

     MR. SNELSON:  West Coast made a cooperative effort to resolve this at a technical level.  They hired Mr. Bacon to review the matters.

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  Mr. Bruce Bacon, for the record?

     MR. SNELSON:  Yes.

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  All right.  And who is Mr. Bacon?

     MR. SNELSON:  Mr. Bacon is a consultant to West Coast, but he has some knowledge of these matters.  And he reviewed matters.  There were some informal discussions between Mr. Bacon and myself in early 2002.  There was a meeting held, of course without prejudice, between myself and our counsel and Mr. Bacon and their counsel.  And eventually Mr. Bacon produced a report to West Coast that was discussed at the larger meeting in June, I believe, of 2002, between West Coast, Sifto, and including both lawyers, experts, and the principals of the various parties.

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  On the substantive issues, though, can you just give us just a general overview of the discussions that you and Mr. Bacon had, specifically with respect to some of the concerns that you had raised?

     MR. SNELSON:  Mr. Bacon agreed that the cost of the

RTPII incremental power had not been included.  He agreed that the power factor penalties had effectively been double-counted, and in addition, Mr. Bacon noticed that the diversity credit, which should have been credited to Sifto from the date of unbundling up until market-opening, had not been credited to Sifto.  And he also brought to our attention the details of the billing between Ontario Power Generation and West Coast for the baseline power that Sifto was buying.  And this was a surprise to me.

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  How so?

     MR. SNELSON:  He indicated that that was billed based on an assumed coincidence -- assumed coincidence factors of the order of 70 percent.  They are in my affidavit.  Again, if we go to, I think it's ...

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  You're talking about the first or second affidavit?

     MR. SNELSON:  I'm in the February 2005 affidavit.  And it's table 3.

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  It's on page 11 again.  I see it.

     MR. SNELSON:  Page 11.

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  Yes, under the assumed in RTPII billing, is that the coincidence factor that Mr. Bacon used?

     MR. SNELSON:  That is the coincidence factors that

Mr. Bacon said had been used in billing the base-load power from OPG to West Coast.  And that's .721 winter; .711 summer.

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  What did that indicate to you?

     MR. SNELSON:  Well, it indicated to Mr. Bacon, and I agreed with him, that if you used those values, then this made a huge difference in the apparent distribution revenue that West Coast was getting from its large user.  


You reduce the coincidence factors.  The peak demand charges for the power that West Coast was buying to supply Sifto are substantially lower.  However, the peak demand charges that West Coast was charging to Sifto for its base power was based on the normal large-user rate.  So this benefit, whatever it was, and I think it was in the order of $200,000 --

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  Just under 300,000, I think.

     MR. SNELSON:  Okay.  It was not being passed on to Sifto.  This was a benefit to West Coast that was a surprise to me, and was not part of the normal structure of the large-user rate billing from Ontario Hydro, or Ontario Power Generation, and then rebilling to Sifto.

      And the effect of that would have been, if you were to accept that, to set an even higher distribution rate.

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  All right.  


Just to slow down a little bit and step back.  In your discussions, then, with Mr. Bacon, firstly, if we look at your table 3, which is on page 11, we see that the coincidence factors that were used at the first Board hearing on the original RUD model are those set out as 0.981 in the winter and 0.991 in the summer; is that correct?

     MR. SNELSON:  That's correct.

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  And then what Mr. Bacon informed you at this meeting is that the coincidence factors that should have been used are those under the column entitled, “Assumed in RTPII Billing”; is that correct?

     MR. SNELSON:  That's correct.

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  All right.  


And then, just to be clear, what are the informal actual values based on?

     MR. SNELSON:  Well, I used the word "informal" because they were given to me in informal discussions with RCS.  They seemed fairly reasonable values to me.  The 7.21 and 7.11 are not within the reasonable range of what you would expect a large-use customer’s coincidence to be with the utility's load.


But subsequent to those discussions of RCS, West Coast has said that they cannot confirm those values, and so they are not standing by those values.

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  Before I move on to that, if I understand your evidence, it is that -- what you learned from your discussions with Mr. Bacon was that the coincidence factor that had been used by OPG was the coincidence factors that we see set out in table 3 - .721 and .711, approximately 70 percent; is that correct?

     MR. SNELSON:  That's correct.

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  And so that was a saving that was experienced, of course, by West Coast.  And because Sifto was on a large-user rate, I believe what you're saying is those savings were not passed on to Sifto; is that correct?

     MR. SNELSON:  That is correct.  The large-user rate had been set assuming capacity -- assuming coincidence factors in the 90 percent-plus range.  That had led to the setting of the large-user rate.  That was the rate that Sifto paid for 95 percent of the power it used.  And so that coincidence factor of 70 percent that was charged from OPG to West Coast was money in the bank for West Coast, which was not passed on to Sifto.

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  But, to add insult to injury, what

Mr. Bacon was proposing as well is that those coincidence factors, nevertheless, that were being -- that West Coast was receiving the benefit of from OPG, should be used in the calculation of the RUD model to unbundle, and thus would increase the distribution rate.  Is that what your evidence is?

     MR. SNELSON:  That is correct.  And if you did that, then that extra amount would then be recovered from Sifto in a distribution rate, which would be recovered on a continuing basis even after the RTPII rate had ended, when Sifto was on the large-user rate at the time of unbundling.  And at the time of unbundling, West Coast was no longer receiving this benefit; Sifto was on the large-user rate.


I think another important point here is that in 1999 Sifto had the choice to be on the large-user rate for all its power, or the RTPII rate, which was being on the large-user rate for 95 percent of its power.  And if Sifto had been on the large-user rate in 1999, then this benefit to West Coast would not have accrued.

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  And what is your position?  What was your position at that time and what is your position in terms of what should have been done?  What's your recommendation?  


You might look at table 3 of page 6 of your supplementary affidavit.  Does that assist you?

     MR. SNELSON:  Yes, it does.  The logical --

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  Let's go slowly through this.

     MR. SNELSON:  Okay.  I just want to set a bit of background to this.

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  Yes.

     MR. SNELSON:  Okay.  The logical conundrum that this case presents, which is not addressed in the Rate Handbook, which is why it's reasonable for different people to have different opinions, okay, is that at the time we're looking for unbundled rates that would be useful in 2001, at the time of that, in 2001, Sifto was on the large-user rate for all of its power.  So that's what we're trying to unbundle.


And we're doing it using 1999 data and a 1999 reference year.  And everything that I have done works and is based on 1999 as the reference year, in some cases with some adjustments.  But in 1999, there is no customer on the large-user rate to use as the basis for unbundling.  On the other hand, we do have data in 1999 for a customer that was on the RTPII rate and how that was billed.  But that's irrelevant to the circumstances at the time of unbundling, because there were no customers on that rate at that time.


So this is where you come to the question of how do you deal with this circumstance?  And the proposal is that the alternative large-user bills that were issued to Sifto in 1999 should be used as the basis for unbundling.  So this is 1999 data.  There are large-user bills that were issued to Sifto for comparison purposes.  There's a rate that Sifto -- was available to Sifto and Sifto could have been on, and would have been on if it had been a lower cost than the RTPII.


And so this is where you come to table 3.

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  And eventually were on before the unbundling took place.

     MR. SNELSON:  And they were on before the unbundling took place.  So table 3 is a --

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  Pardon me for interrupting you.  I don't know if this is a convenient place to take the Board's morning break, but before we go to table 3, which will take some time, it might be the --

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  That would seem to make sense, Mr. Smitheman.  We will stand adjourned until 11:20.  


Thank you.


--- Recess taken at 10:59 a.m.


--- On resuming at 11:26 a.m.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Please be seated.  Thank you. 

Mr. Smitheman.

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  Thank you.

     Mr. Snelson, before the break you were just about to take us through table 3 which is contained at -- found, I should say, at page 6 of your affidavit dated February 20th, 2006.  Please proceed.

     MR. SNELSON:  The calculations in table 3, the first column, it says “RUD submitted” and that is the approved rates -- well, it is from the approved RUD model at the point in the RUD model before there are additions for market-based returns and other such changes in the distribution revenue.  So this is at the point where the distribution rates have been determined to recover the 1999 distribution revenue.  They haven't been adjusted for other factors.

      The middle column is the same as the data that is in table 4 of my February 2005 affidavit, and that is a recalculation of the large-user data.  And if you look at page 13 of that affidavit, paragraph 34, you will see a listing of the factors that were changed to produce that column.

      MR. SMITHEMAN:  Sorry.  Go slowly there.  Paragraph 13?

     MR. SNELSON:  Paragraph 34.

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  34.

     MR. SNELSON:  Page 13 of the February 2005 --

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  Yes.  Perfect.

     MR. SNELSON:  -- affidavit.  And the bulleted points are the changes that were made to the RUD model.  

So the first change is that the billing and the kilowatt-hours were based on the large-user bills.  The large-user rates, of course, applied to those amounts.  That's what was in the large-user bills, what the large-user bills were based upon.  The coincidence factors were the informal ones that had been provided to me by RCS:  .912 winter; .896 summer.

     And I also removed a $50,000 adjustment between the large-user and the general service time-of-use class.  It was an adjustment that was made to try to achieve a balance in the rates for the general service time-of-use class, which actually is the other part of Sifto, removing that adjustment has the effect of increasing the distribution revenue requirement, not reducing it.  That's to the favour of Sifto -- sorry, the favour of West Coast.

     And so those changes were made.  They're actually shown in Exhibit G.  All the places I changed the RUD model are in Exhibit G.  I don't think you need to turn it up but it is there.  And that produced the column of figures that are shown in table 4, page 13, of the 2005 affidavit, which are repeated in the centre column of table 3, page 6, of the 2006 affidavit.

     And that is a complete set of distribution rates prior to the increase for these other reasons in the RUD model.

     And so that puts them on a comparable basis and you can see that the distribution rates are substantially reduced.  The cost-of-power rates are slightly reduced for the peak, and the energy rates are very little changed.

You'll notice at the bottom that there is shown a diversity credit of $1.28 in the winter, .95 cents in the summer, which should have been on the rate schedule for credit to Sifto from unbundling to market-opening.

Now, that data had some question marks.  If the coincidence factors that were used in producing that data are no longer supported by West Coast, then there isn't really a solid basis for those coincidence factors.

And at the technical conference we had last November, Board Staff brought to my attention that the worksheets used to create the large-user rate for West Coast were available.  And these were subsequently given to myself and to Mr. Bacon, and they are shown as Exhibit A to the February 2006 affidavit.

      I don't think we need to actually go over those at the moment, but if you turn back in the 2006 affidavit to table 1, you will find --

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  Sorry, 2006, table 1?

     MR. SNELSON:  Table 1, which is on page 2.

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  Yes.

     MR. SNELSON:  Then you will see that that has got another summary of the coincidence factor data.  It’s exactly the same as the previous table in the earlier affidavit except that there is an additional line that is used to set the large-user rate.

These are the coincidence factors taken from the

Ontario Hydro worksheets used to create the large-user rate.  These are .969 winter; .932 summer.

So I redid the calculation of the distribution rates from the same point in the RUD model, and that data is shown on table 3, page 6, of the 2005 affidavit, which shows a further lowering of the large-user distribution rates.

So, if we look at table 3 as submitted, the fixed charge per month would have been $16,168.  The informal coincidence factors and the other changes I've described would have lowered it to $13,678, and the coincidence factors that were used to set the large-user rate would have lowered it to $10,164.  And there are similar changes in the variable rate.

Now, this is an exercise where we are unbundling the large-user rate, and in the absence of actual coincidence factor data for 1999, the reference year, the test year on which we're doing the test calculations, then in the absence of that data, if you're trying to unbundle the user rate, it seems very logical and should be reliable to use the coincidence factors that were used to set that rate.  And that's what that third column does.

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  What are the effects of all this in terms of dollars and cents?  If you would like to refer to

table 4 --

     MR. SNELSON:  Yes.

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  -- which can be found on page 8 of your 2006 affidavit table.

     MR. SNELSON:  Yes.  Rather than recalculating all of the adjustments that have been made since that point in the

RUD model through to distribution rates for large users, for other customer classes and so on - that would be a very complex exercise - I made what I considered to be reasonable estimates of the effect of that reduction on the charges that would have been made to Sifto.

And the details of the calculation, which you don't need to go over at the moment, but the details of the calculation are shown in Exhibit C to the 2006 affidavit.

     In moving from the point within the RUD model where the first set of rates are determined to the final set of rates, I increased the charges in the same ratio as the charges that were increased in the approved model.  So if the -- I believe the increase was about 2.5 percent.  So in the original RUD model, from the set of rates based on 1999 revenues to the set of rates based on the approved revenues for unbundling, the increase was about 2.5 percent.  I made that same increase.

Those rates stayed in effect for a number of years. 

And then there was an increase that came, I believe, in -- there was an increase that came into effect in April,

2004.  And for that year I made the same increase in absolute terms, not in proportional terms, I made the same increase in absolute terms.  


And that led to a set of rates for Sifto for that period, and then I recalculated what the overpayment by

Sifto was on that basis.  And there are overpayments due to cost of power, including the diversity credit that should have been charged to them, which are shown in the right-hand column of table 4, amounting to $289,000.  And of course, the overpayments with respect to cost of power ceased on market opening.


The overpayments with respect to distribution continue, and on this basis amount to $569,174, giving a total of $858,438.

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  Have you assumed that there are any changes in the amounts of other customers and rates of other customer classes in your calculations?

     MR. SNELSON:  These calculations are focussed entirely on the large-user class, Sifto, and what is the overpayment by that class.  If that class has overpaid by that amount, then it raises the question as to, should some, all, or none of that amount be considered as a cost to other customers?  And should some of the remainder of it -- presumably then some would be considered a cost to the West Coast shareholder.

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  Sorry.  Go ahead.  


I was going to ask what would be your recommendation in order to deal with that difficulty; in other words, the impact of possible refund on other classes.

     MR. SNELSON:  Some of the overcharging that has occurred, occurred after the creation of -- could be considered to have occurred in applying the results of the RUD model.  And those changes, namely, power factor penalty, double-charging and the diverse -- failure to charge the diversity credit, those two factors could be corrected without impacting other customers, because they were based on the output of the RUD model and an incorrect application of that output.


The other changes --

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  Just before you go on from there, I take it your evidence is that West Coast benefited directly from those overcharges?

     MR. SNELSON:  If the -- that would seem to be the case, yes.  I can see no reason why that wouldn't be the case.

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  All right.  Go on.

     MR. SNELSON:  And the remainder of the difference results from changes that take place within the RUD model.  The RUD model does reconciliation between customer classes to try to balance things out to allowed revenue requirements and cost of power and a variety of other things.  So it's not unreasonable to assume that those changes that took place within the RUD model would, in fact, have resulted in different rates for other customer classes.


I don't think it's a productive exercise to go back and recreate rates in the past for other customer classes and try to charge -- change bills that have already been issued.  I did do an estimate of the amount that could be recovered for the power factor penalty and the --

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  Diversity.

     MR. SNELSON:  The diversity credits.  And that's shown in paragraph 24 of my February exhibit.  And my estimate of the diversity credits is $163,000; my estimate of the power factor penalties is $141,000.  Those two amounts, presumably, went to the West Coast shareholder, and could be repaid without impact on other customer classes.


Other amounts, you may very well judge to have been prudently incurred costs for West Coast.  And one mechanism that could be used to handle that, and to avoid the big mess of going back and recalculating rates in the past, is to consider that to be a regulatory asset, which would then be recoverable, according to the Board's order, prospectively in increased rates to all customer classes.


If you were to do that, I accept that Sifto may very well end up paying a share of that, because there isn't a good basis for allocating it among customer classes.  So we'd presumably share it across all customer class, including Sifto.  


But that is one mechanism that could be used, and that would be similar to the mechanism that has been used for recovering regulatory assets, and that has been the subject of recent proceedings before this Board.

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  So that would have a prospective effect as opposed to a retroactive impact on the rates of other users, as well as Sifto; is that correct?

     MR. SNELSON:  That is correct.  And in deciding on the recovery of that regulatory asset, then the Board can spread it over a suitable time so that the impact on other customer classes is acceptable, while providing reasonably expeditious recovery for West Coast.

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  Sorry, you noted that your calculation of power factor penalties and diversity credits, I believe you meant to say, was paragraph 24 of your 2006 affidavit; is that correct?

     MR. SNELSON:  That is correct.  Did I say 2005?

     MR. SMITHEMAM:  There was some confusion in my mind.

     MR. SNELSON:  Okay.

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  But it may not be in everyone else's. 

But the bottom line is that the refund, the total refund due to Sifto from West Coast, based on diversity credits and power factor penalties, is as indicated $304,838.  Is that correct?

     MR. SNELSON:  That is correct.

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  Right.  


After you've done all this review, what is your conclusion with respect to the procedure and the method and the calculations that were used with respect to this unbundling that took place previously?

     MR. SNELSON:  Well, clearly the original RUD model as submitted had substantial errors.  Each error, individually, was of the order of magnitude of the answer that you're looking for.  So they're not inconsequential. 

Many of those errors are admitted and agreed to by the West Coast consultant.  And so, clearly, that had very large errors.  It was clearly not revenue neutral at the class level, as is the stated intention in the Distribution Rate

Handbook.


An alternative way of fixing this is to recalculate the 1999 RUD model, using 1999 as a test year, using coincidence factors that were used to create the large-user rate, assuming that the bills had been on the basis of the large-user rate, which is the rate that was in effect at the time of unbundling. 


If you had gone the other route of saying, Well, let's correct it to the actual capacity factor -– actual coincidence factors that were used, and figures of 70 percent, then you would end up with a completely unsatisfactory unbundling, both from the customer and the utility's viewpoint.  If you accept a 70-percent coincidence factor as being reasonable and you use that to unbundle rates, you end up with unbundled rates that are less than the cost of West Coast buying that power.


So, for instance, if West Coast buys power, and I think this is shown in my 2005 - and I do mean 2005 - affidavit, at table 2, page 9, this is the peak charges, because the coincidence factors principally affect the peak charges, the wholesale rate that West Coast was buying power at was $12.05, which is the lowest line of this, in the winter, and $9.02 in the summer. 

      If you took the RUD model and put in the 70 percent

capacity factors -- 70 percent coincidence factors, excuse

me -- then the rate at which West Coast would be selling

kilowatts to Sifto would be $8.69.

      And it does not make sense to buy kilowatts at $12 and sell them at $8.69 and say you're passing through the cost of power.  It just does not compute.

     Now, the effect of coincidence factors is to slightly ameliorate that.  So for instance at $12.05, with a .969 coincidence factor, then the wholesale -- the rate from

West Coast to Sifto would have to be $11.67, which I think is the figure that is shown in my later affidavit.

So, clearly, unreasonably low coincidence factors generate a situation where you have unreasonably low cost of power.  To maintain revenue-neutrality, that ends up with unreasonably high distribution revenues, and if you've got an unreasonably high distribution rate to the large-user class.

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  Looking to the future, what impact, if any, do you see a refund having on, say, future rates?

     MR. SNELSON:  I would recommend that in the calculation of the first opportunity at which the Board has to recalculate rates on an ongoing basis, then it would reflect as the existing revenue requirement from the large-user class, figures consistent with this evidence, and that the rates for all customer classes would be adjusted prospectively on that basis.

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.

     I now would like to move on to Mr. Hopeson.

     Mr. Hopeson, can you describe for the Board, please, what is your occupation?

     MR. HOPESON:  I'm currently a partner in a small consulting company in London, Ontario, RDII Utility --Consulting and Utilities, Inc.  As you can see from my CV, we're primarily involved in regulatory and financial accounting services to small- to medium-sized utilities.  I've been in the electricity business for 28 years, going back to 1978.  I started off in a variety of positions with Ontario Hydro, moved to become the treasurer of London PUC, which subsequently was reconstituted as London Hydro.  Then I got out of the electricity business for two years, and I was controller of a start-up data communications company.  Moved back into the electricity business.  Went down to New

Brunswick for two years and was the business manager of the Point Lepreau nuclear power plant.  Came back to Ontario in the summer of 2000 and have been actively involved in consulting with Ontario LDCs for the last six years.

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  And I understand you have an MBA from

Western?

     MR. HOPESON:  Yes, I have an undergraduate degree, a specialized economics degree and an MBA degree from Western.

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  You got a BA in economics from York

University in 1972, is that correct, and an MBA from

Western in 1978?

     MR. HOPESON:  That's correct.

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  And I believe we've made your curriculum vitae an exhibit here already today.  

Subject to what my friend has to say, I'm offering this witness as an expert, qualified expert witness to give expert evidence on issues pertaining to energy utility accounting matters.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Sidlofsky?

CROSS-EXAMINATION ON QUALIFICATIONS OF MR. HOPESON BY MR. SIDLOFSKY:

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Mr. Hopeson, I've read your affidavit, and it appears to relate primarily to the power factor penalty and the diversity credit calculations; is that right?

     MR. HOPESON:  That's correct.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  So I take it you're not speaking to the initial -- to the Board's initial Rate Handbook, the first-generation PBR Handbook in 1999; is that right?

     MR. HOPESON:  That is correct.  My evidence is based on financial analysis of the financial statements.  And I'm relying on Mr. Snelson's evidence with respect to those two issues that you just discussed.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  So you're not giving evidence on the applicability of the Rate Handbook, the initial Rate Handbook or on the appropriate treatment of the RUD model?

     MR. HOPESON:  No, I'm not.  That's correct.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  I'm fine with that, then, sir.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.  Then subject to those qualifications, the Board will recognize Mr. Hopeson.


CONTINUED EXAMINATION BY MR. SMITHESON:


MR. SMITHESON:  Let's start with that. 

What was your retainer?  What did Sifto retain you to do, sir?

     MR. HOPESON:  There were two projects.  As I mentioned they were both financial analysis projects.

      The first project related to an assessment of the actual distribution revenue that was booked in the financial statements of West Coast to the expected distribution revenue based on rate approvals granted by the Board.

The second project related to an understanding of the sources of funding for significant expenditures that

West Coast made in the 2002 fiscal year.

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  And what did you see when you did a review of that information?

     MR. HOPESON:  Let's start with the first project, which is a review of the distribution revenue.

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  Yes.

     MR. HOPESON:  The rate setting process is based on a foundation of 1999 distribution revenue, and then as rates are approved, there are revenue layers that result in incremental revenue to the utilities over time.

     So I started with the 1999 distribution revenue base. 

I was not able to make a determination of any reasonability or unreasonability of the year 2000, because I just simply didn't have the data.

      I did have data for 2001 through to 2003 through the audited financial statements.

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  Sorry, they were filed with the OEB?

     MR. HOPESON:  Filed with the Ontario Energy Board, that's correct.  I found with respect to 2001, the only thing that would have affected distribution revenue in 2001 would have been the rate approval effective March 1, 2001, which layered in the first one-third of market based rate of return.  And for this utility that represented $32,000 on an annual basis.  Since it was implemented on March 1, I would have expected that the distribution revenue would increase by 10/12s of that, so in the magnitude of $27,000.

What we actually saw when we looked at the actual distribution revenue --

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  Let's go slowly here.  Yes, go ahead.

     MR. HOPESON:  The actual distribution revenue for 2001 versus the 1999 distribution revenue, the total distribution revenue was $250,000 higher, so it was in the neighbourhood of 20 percent.

We expected to see 27.  It went up 250,000.  So it was clearly an unexpected result relating to the 2001 financial results.

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  What about 2002/2003?

     MR. HOPESON:  2002 and 2003 are right where I expected them to be.

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  So can you explain the reason for this?

     MR. HOPESON:  Well, I then relied -- I relied on

Mr. Snelson's evidence with respect to the non-application of the diversity credits to Sifto and the double-charging of the power factor penalty payments.  And I just looked at the months -- remember, we're dealing with the 2001 fiscal year, so I looked from March 1 through to December 31st.  And the non-application of the diversity payments amounted to $113,000.  The double billing of the power factor penalties was $72,000.  The sum of those two amounts was $185,000, which explains 83 percent of the $223,000 unexpected distribution revenue amount.

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  Received by West Coast in 2001; right?

     MR. HOPESON:  Correct.

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  And what about the remaining 17 percent, then?

     MR. HOPESON:  Well, my report also discloses some potential sources for alternative sources of why distribution revenue would vary from year to year.  I was not able to quantify.  So, by default, I assumed the remaining 17 percent was comprised of a mixture or a variety of those other sources.

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  All right.  You also looked at West Coast's financial information for the year 2002.  Did you find anything unusual in that information?

     MR. HOPESON:  Yes.  West Coast went from a starting working capital level at the start of 2002 of $2.2 million, and at the end of the year it was minus $700,000.  So they went from a positive to a negative working capital level.


And essentially, what happened is West Coast spent $3.4 million worth of expenditures not related to operations in

2002.  Of that $3.4 million, West Coast distributed a repayment of a promissory note back to the shareholder in the amount of $1.685 million.  In addition, a dividend to the shareholder in an amount of $115,000 was paid.


The total of those two expenditures represents 54 percent of the $3.4 million worth of expenditures, and I would categorize those expenditures as discretionary in nature.  The remaining 46 percent of the expenditures of $3.5 million relate to the normal, ongoing course of business.  West Coast was forced to invest in regulatory assets.  They were also forced to, as all utilities are, to continue to upgrade their distribution system and make capital investments.


Now, the source of funding to pay that $3.5 million  to pay 3.5, where do you get the money?  Well, the first thing is they started with $1.9 million in the bank on January 1.  They drew that down to zero by the end of the year.  


Secondly, they went to the bank and got an additional amount of debt financing in the amount of 1.1 million.  And the balancing amount was made up of cash flow from operations for the year.  


So we see 3.5 million coming from starting cash, bank, and cash flow from operations being spent 54 percent to discretionary, to the shareholder, and 46 percent on ongoing business operations.


The other point I would relate is that the way the cash balances flow.  The over-earnings in 2001 would have been reflected in a higher starting cash value in 2002.  So those over-earnings were a source of contributing funds to them about to pay the 3.5 million in 2002.

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  Thank you.  


Those are my questions for this witness.  And that, effectively, is the evidence of Sifto, except for one matter.  


I would like to put -- there's a letter dated January 17th, 2003, from the Board Secretary, Mr. Paul Pudge.  I would like to make that an exhibit, just to complete the record.  It is just setting out concerns with the passage of Bill 210 on December 9th.


And, in effect, what Mr. Pudge has said to Sifto's counsel is that “you would have to reapply in this matter. 

The legislation now requires you to obtain the written approval of the Minister of Energy.”  Just to complete the record.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Just as a matter of form, perhaps you could show it to Mr. Sidlofsky first --

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  I have copies for him.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  -- and see if he has any objections.

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  This is just house-cleaning.  I've got a number of copies.


So, subject to anything that Mr. Sidlofsky has to say, that completes the evidence for Sifto in this hearing. 

Thank you.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, Mr. Smitheman.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  I have no problem with this.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, Mr. Sidlofsky.


We’ll enter that, Mr. Millar.  

     MR. MILLAR:  K1.3.

EXHIBIT NO. K1.3:  LETTER FROM PAUL PUDGE, BOARD SECRETARY, TO SIFTO, DATED JANUARY 17, 2003 

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Sidlofsky, as I indicated earlier, we'd normally look to 12:30 to take a lunch break.  And you may want to look for a time around there that works for you.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sir, actually, I expect it will be

Mr. Millar who will be looking to that time, because I believe he will be cross-examining first.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Very good.

     MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chair, with your permission, I think

Board Staff would like to go first.  And I think, actually, this morning’s examination-in-chief has been very helpful.  It has, in fact, answered a large number of the questions that we had.  So I may well be able to finish our cross-examination by 12:30, but I'll see where we are.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. MILLAR:
     MR. MILLAR:  I guess, good afternoon now, gentlemen.  My name is Michael Millar; I'm counsel for Board Staff.  As

I mentioned, your examination-in-chief this morning has been very helpful, and I think it will greatly reduce the amount of time I'm going to spend in cross-examination.


I'm chiefly going to be referring to three documents, so I just want to make sure you have them.  Two of them, I know you do.  They are the affidavits we've been speaking of; the 2006 affidavit from Mr. Snelson, I believe it is, and the 2005 affidavit, the February 2nd affidavit.  We've made numerous references to those as well.  I'm also going to be referring to an affidavit from Mr. Bacon.  This was sworn March 12th, 2005.  Do you have a copy of that affidavit --

     MR. SNELSON:  Yes, I do.

     MR. MILLAR:  -- with you?  Okay.  Great.  


I'm going to start with a couple of questions on the power factor penalty.  I think you'll find that many of my questions are really for the purposes of clarification, just to make sure the record is entirely clear and that everyone is clear what you're asking for and where the differences between the parties may lie.  So please understand these questions in that light.


It's my understanding, correct me if I am wrong -- and I'll also be asking the same questions of West Coast, so if they have a disagreement they can let me know at that time, but it seems to me that the parties are, to a large extent, in agreement over what the annual amount of the power factor penalty should be, or how it should be corrected?

     MR. SNELSON:  Yes.  I think that's fair.  There are two ways to correct for the power factor overpayment, a double payment.  If the power factor payment is included in the distribution revenue implicitly and also included as a separate charge after unbundling, then one way to correct for that double-counting is to take it out of the distribution revenue in the first place, and to leave the power factor penalty charges continuing.


And the other method of dealing with it is to leave it in the distribution revenue requirement and to stop charging power factor penalties upon the point of unbundling.


And the latter method is the one that Mr. Bacon has proposed.  Initially, I had proposed the other one, but in my calculations in the February 2006 affidavit, I've used the method proposed by Mr. Bacon.  I think we may have slightly different numbers, but I don't think there's a substantial reason for that.  I think that if we were actually sitting down and comparing numbers, we would actually come to the same answer.

     MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So you tend to agree now with Mr. Bacon on the methodology?

     MR. SNELSON:  There are alternative methods of doing it.


MR. MILLAR:  And you don’t have a problem with that method?


MR. SNELSON:  I don't have a problem with that method, and it has the advantage of not requiring a change to the RUD model.

     MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  If I look at page 8, table 1 of your 2005 affidavit, and I'm just going to be confirming some of the numbers here, the middle column is called "Revenue."

     MR. SNELSON:  Yes.

     MR. MILLAR:  And then under "Changes" you have double-counting for power factor penalty.  And the amount we see there is $90,016.

     MR. SNELSON:  That's correct.


MR. MILLAR:  And as far as you know, does Mr. Bacon agree with that figure?

     MR. SNELSON:  I believe he does.

     MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  If you could turn to Mr. Bacon's affidavit -- well, actually why don't we start with your affidavit, the 2006 affidavit, now.


If we look under tab D, there are two pages there. 

I'm looking at the first page.  Do you have that document?

     MR. SNELSON:  Yes, I do.

     MR. MILLAR:  It's called "Summary of Rebates to Sifto for Diversity Credit and Power Factor Penalties."

     MR. SNELSON:  Yes.

     MR. MILLAR:  And if you look under “Power Factor Penalties,” I see it's broken down, more or less, on a year-by-year basis, taking us to April 2006.  And I see the total power factor penalties listed as $141,555; is that correct?

     MR. SNELSON:  That is correct.

     MR. MILLAR:  Now, if we look at Mr. Bacon's affidavit, paragraph 8, which starts on page 3 but spills over onto page 4, reading from his last sentence in paragraph 8, I see he says:



"As shown in table 3 below, the power factor



refund is estimated to be $221,169."


So it seems we have a somewhat unusual situation, and maybe it's just a matter of me not reading the evidence correctly.  But it seems like they're trying to give you 70,000 more dollars than you're asking for.  Can you help us reconcile those numbers?

     MR. SNELSON:  In reviewing the documents yesterday, I had noticed the difference, and I do not have an immediate explanation for those differences.  I'm reasonably confident that we're using substantially the same methods.  It may be a different time period.  It did occur to me that I may have forgotten or may have missed from that the effect of the transformation allowance.  I would expect that we could reconcile those differences if we were asked to. 

     MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Well, maybe I'll leave that question for Mr. Bacon as well.

     Okay.  Thank you for that.  I'd like to move on to some questions regarding the diversity credit adjustment.

     And again, it seems to me that there is a large degree of agreement knowledge parties regarding this.  Again, looking at page 8 of your 2005 affidavit –- and, members of the Panel, I will be referring to this table numerous times so you may wish to keep it available.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, Mr. Millar.

     MR. MILLAR:  I see again in that middle column, if we look under “Double-Counting of a Diversity Credit,” we see a figure of $103,454?

     MR. SNELSON:  103,454?

     MR. MILLAR:  Yes.

     MR. SNELSON:  Yes.

     MR. MILLAR:  And as far as you know, does West Coast agree with that figure?

     MR. SNELSON:  I believe they agree with that figure. 

They are suggesting that it should be dealt with as by means of a separate rate after unbundling, and I believe they're probably correct in that respect.

     MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Now, if we look again at your 2006 affidavit, I think that number appears to have changed, if

I'm reading the evidence correctly.  Again, at that tab D, this time on the second page of tab D.  Do you have it, Mr. Snelson?

     MR. SNELSON:  Yes.

     MR. MILLAR:  Again, we have a year-by-year break-out, it looks like, on the diversity credit, and we come up with a number at the bottom of $163,283.64?

     MR. SNELSON:  Yes.

     MR. MILLAR:  Can you help me out with the difference between those numbers?

     MR. SNELSON:  Well, the $103,454, which is in table 1 on page 8 of the 2005 affidavit, is the diversity credit that was actually -- that was applicable in 1999, based on

1999 loads.

The data in Exhibit D, page 2 to the 2006 affidavit, is with respect to the diversity credits for a 14-month period, from March 1, 2001 to April 30, 2002.  So there are 14 months of data there.

The diversity credit rate is shown in the second column from the right, the $1.28 in the winter months and 95 cents in the summer months.

     Applying that credit to the billed kilowatts, which is on the left-hand side, gives the amounts that are shown in the right-hand column.

     MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  I have a couple of quick questions about the RTPII administrative charge that was referenced earlier this morning.  And I understand that

West Coast is suggesting that there should have been a $2,000 per month administrative charge.

     Can you just briefly outline Sifto's position on -- I'm assuming you don't think that's appropriate.  Maybe you could briefly elaborate as to why you don't think that charge is appropriate.

     MR. HOWE:  That charge was associated with RTPII agreement.  The agreement was signed for the delivery of power but there was no agreement that was signed for administration charges.

     It’s Sifto's contention that they would have been subject to negotiation, and it was just never signed.  There was no agreement on those numbers.  We were never billed for them during the period we were on RTPII.

     MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.

     Okay.  Moving to a new area, I want to take a step back and look at the initial RUD calculation.  And I don't think this will be contentious but I'm hoping you can confirm for me what appears to be the simple calculation as to how you get your distribution revenue.

      And, as I understand it, the way it worked is that you took the total class revenue and you subtracted the cost of power, and that's what gave you the distribution revenue.  Have I characterized that correctly?

     MR. SNELSON:  Are we talking about table 1?

     MR. MILLAR:  I wasn't specifically talking about table

1, but --

     MR. SNELSON:  But the way the RUD model works, right, is that it takes the total revenue from the class.  It estimates the cost of power.  Then it subtracts it.

     It has to make adjustments for -- it does make adjustments for the diversity credit.  That is added in as part of the revenue from the customer class in the RUD model.  And the RCS consultants, in doing that, had to make some adjustments to get into the RUD model the extra revenue that West Coast received from Sifto for the incremental power above the baseline.  There was no spot in the RUD model for putting that in.

     West Coast's consultants factored up the energy rates to make the revenue come up to what it had actually received from West Coast.  But they did that, and maybe you want to ask them that question.

     MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  And again, looking at table 1 on page 8 of your 2005 affidavit, I guess what we're looking at here are some of the variables that are punched into that equation; is that correct?

     MR. SNELSON:  Yes.  This is actually a table that was derived from Mr. Bacon's earlier affidavit to try to illustrate areas of agreement and disagreement.  And if you go to -- I think he had attached to his affidavit that you've referred me to - that's the March 12th, 2005 affidavit – I believe that Exhibit B to that affidavit is another affidavit sworn by Mr. Bacon on October the 17th, 2002.

     And table 3 to that affidavit, which these pages do not -- oh, yes, they are.  It's page 7, up in the right-hand corner, top right-hand corner.

Page 7 has a similar table to the one that I showed as

table 1.  You find many of the same components, mostly with the same values.

     And he was using these as puts and takes to the distribution margin.  I was trying to make the point in this table 1 that we weren't just looking at the distribution margin, we also had to look at the cost of power, and that to maintain revenue-neutrality, then you had to look at both sides of the equation; you had to look at both the effect on the distribution margin and on the cost of power.  And if you didn't, you ended up with an inconsistent set of rates.

     So I was trying to allocate these as to things that affected the revenue and things that reflected the cost of power.

     I think that if you compare the two tables, you will find that the incorrect allocation of RTPII cost of power, $132,413, is the same in both tables.

     The double-counting of power factor penalty is the same, $90,016.  The double-counting of diversity credit is $103,454 in both tables.

     He has shown a use of 1999 actual coincidence factors of $312,964, and that is actually the sum of the use of the assumed coincidence factors in my table of $262,965 and $50,000.  I think there may be a one-dollar difference that I can't explain.

     And so table 1 was looking at the various components and saying, Well, which ones go to the cost of power and which ones go to affect the revenue requirement?

But the large part of these numbers were derived from, and I agree with, table 3 of that earlier affidavit from Mr. Bacon.  There was one item on Mr. Bacon's table 3 which is not on my table 1, on page 8, and that is the $24,000 adjustment for administrative charges.

     MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.

     You've actually answered the next ten questions with your answer, so that makes things easier for me. 

But just let me -- I'm paid by the word, so ...

     If I could sum up, then - and I'll ask this question of Mr. Bacon as well - but when we look at this table 1, can you show me any areas where West Coast disagrees with your inputs?

     MR. SNELSON:  Well, this is about restructuring the --or redoing the RUD model, or how you might redo the RUD model to reflect the actual RTPII billing in 1999, including the billing at a very low capacity -- low coincidence factor between OPG and West Coast.  


That low coincidence factor is what contributed $262,965 to the allocated cost of power.  And as I indicated before, if you put that into the RUD model, you get out of the RUD model a set of rates that are unsatisfactory, because the utility is going to make a loss on the reselling the power it buys from OPG to Sifto if those rates were adopted.


So, in the hypothetical, that you've tried to redo the RUD model based on the actual RTPII billing as it was in

1999, I think we have substantial agreement; as to whether you should do that, we have great disagreement.

     MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  That's very helpful.  Thank you.


By way of clarification, really, I see you spoke of the $50,000 amount, and it's classified as -- it says in the left-hand column, "Remove $50,000 adjustment."  Can you just, for the sake of the clarity of the record, please explain what that $50,000 adjustment is for?

     MR. SNELSON:  Well, again, I think you should ask that question to RCS, who did the original RUD model.  But my understanding is that they reduced the distribution revenue requirement for the large-user class by an arbitrary $50,000 and increased the distribution revenue requirement, effectively, of the time-of-use intermediate class by the same amount.  And this was done to obtain a more reasonable rate for the intermediate time-of-use class.  Now, this had the effect of lowering the distribution rate to Sifto.  


I removed it because I didn't think it was an accurate reflection of the distribution situation with respect to Sifto as a large user.

     MR. MILLAR:  Thank you for that.


Forgive me if I'm forcing you to repeat yourself, but I have my list of questions here, and if I go off topic, it will be a disaster.


If I heard you correctly - and maybe I'll just have you confirm it one more time - table 1 represents what you believe the correct inputs into the RUD model should have been if Sifto had stayed on the RTPII rate.  Is that correct?

     MR. SNELSON:  It represents adjustments that were needed to the results of the original RUD model.

     MR. MILLAR:  Right.

     MR. SNELSON:  Whether you make the adjustments by changing the RUD model or by changing how you applied the

RUD model, that wasn't really the point.  The point is that these were things that were omitted from the RUD model and how it was used, and that should be accounted for.

     MR. MILLAR:  And it assumes that the RTPII rate is still in effect or it's still being used by Sifto?

     MR. SNELSON:  It's based on the actual RTPII billing.

     MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you.


Just a couple of questions on coincidence factors that arise from your testimony this morning, and again, it's really by way of clarification.  


If we look at table 3 of your 2005 affidavit, I think that's at page 11, if we look in this table at the coincidence factors that apply to the RTPII load, I see .721 for winter and .711 in the summer.


Now, just to clarify, am I correct that Sifto was only using RTPII rates for approximately 5 percent of its load?

     MR. SNELSON:  Effectively, yes.  The billing was structured on the basis of Sifto taking all of its power under the RTPII rate, but a feature of the RTPII rate was that there was a baseline and the baseline would be charged as normal rates.  So the baseline for the RTPII rate was charged at large-user rates, and only the increment above the baseline was charged at the hourly variable RTPII rate that was issued the day before.

     MR. MILLAR:  And does this coincidence factor only apply to that incremental rate, the RTPII rate?

     MR. SNELSON:  Not as I understand it.  Now, again, this is information that I received from Bruce, Bruce Bacon, and that I have not been able to independently confirm.  But his evidence, and you'll see it in his affidavits, is that this is the billing between Ontario Power Generation and West Coast Power for the baseline quantities that West Coast bought from OPG to resell to Sifto.

     MR. MILLAR:  So it's for the entire load?

     MR. SNELSON:  It's for the 95 -- it's not for the increment, it’s for the 95 percent.

     MR. MILLAR:  Oh, I see.  Okay.

     MR. SNELSON:  The increment was charged on the pass-through basis with a 3 percent adder for local costs.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I didn't hear that last part, Mr. Snelson.

     MR. SNELSON:  The increment was charged on a pass-through basis with a 3 percent adder to cover local costs.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Right.  Local costs.

     MR. SNELSON:  Local costs, yes.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

     MR. SNELSON:  That was the 3 percent that was the standard practice of Ontario Hydro in setting large-user rates, allowing distribution utilities and municipal utilities to add up to 3 percent of the cost of power for local costs, and they carried that through into the RTPII pricing of the increment.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

     MR. MILLAR:  And so to make sure I'm clear, and you may have to dumb it down for me, this .721 and .711, you're saying applies to the 95 percent?

     MR. SNELSON:  That is my understanding.

     MR. MILLAR:  And what coincidence factors would apply to the other 5 percent?

     MR. SNELSON:  The other 5 percent, essentially a hundred per cent, because it was just a pass-through.  But coincidence factors are important for charging peak charges.  


MR. MILLAR:  Mm-hmm.


MR. SNELSON:  There was no peak charge for the increment.  The increment was charged on an hourly basis for an energy cost that varied hour by hour.  So coincidence factors weren't really relevant to that increment.

     MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you.  


Okay.  I'm almost at the end of my questions, actually, so I think we'll be finished by around 12:30.  And again, we're strictly talking clarification for this last set.


If we look at your 2006 affidavit, at page 8, table 

4 -- pardon me, page 6.  No, I'm sorry, it is page 8, my apologies, table 4 of page 8.  I just want to confirm some of these amounts, not that you haven't done it already.


I see the table is called:  "Calculated Refund Due to Sifto 1996 OH Coincidence Factors," and the figure that's spat out at the bottom is $858,438.  And I take it that that is current as of March 31st, 2005?

     MR. SNELSON:  That's correct.

     MR. MILLAR:  Does that number need to be updated?

     MR. SNELSON:  Yes, it would need to be updated.

     MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Perhaps I could get an undertaking -- is that a difficult calculation to perform to complete the record?

     MR. SNELSON:  No, it is not.  It's just that we had a very short time from the Board's procedural notice for this hearing, and we wanted to get the additional evidence and in sufficient time that West Coast could have a reasonable view of it.  So there wasn't time to do that updating.

     MR. MILLAR:  Okay, and I understand.  But you would agree that the Board would need that number or might need that number?

     MR. SNELSON:  Yes.

     MR. MILLAR:  So could I get an undertaking from you to update that number, please?

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  Yes.

     MR. MILLAR:  And I guess to April 30th, 2006,

Mr. Thiessen advises me is the --

     MR. SNELSON:  If the rates have been set to April 30th, 2006, yes.  


MR. MILLAR:  So we'll give that Undertaking J1.1.

UNDERTAKING NO. J1.1:  TO PROVIDE UPDATED NUMBER OF THE CALCULATED REFUND TO SIFTO AS OF APRIL 30, 2006
     MR. MILLAR:  And again, if we turn to tab D of your

2006 affidavit, when we look at the power factor penalty on that first page, I see that that is already updated to April '06.  So I guess would you agree with me no further update is required for the power factor penalty?

     MR. SNELSON:  It's on an estimated basis for part of the time, and so it could be updated to be on an actual basis.

     MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  But could I get an undertaking to have that update performed?

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  Yes.

     MR. MILLAR:  That will be J1.2.

UNDERTAKING NO. J1.2:  TO PROVIDE UPDATED NUMBER FOR 
THE POWER FACTOR PENALTY

     MR. MILLAR:  And again, looking at the diversity credit, is there any need for an update there?

     MR. SNELSON:  I don't believe so.

     MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you.

     And again, just to confirm, when we look at the total relief you're seeking in this proceeding, we have to add those three numbers up; is that correct?  We add up the $858,000 plus the $163,000 plus the $141,000?

     MR. SNELSON:  No, I don't believe so.

     MR. MILLAR:  So what is the total amount that you're seeking?

     MR. SNELSON:  The 858,000 is the total.

     MR. MILLAR:  That's the total?

     MR. SNELSON:  It includes the other amounts.

     MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you.

     Thank you, gentlemen.  Those are my questions.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, Mr. Millar.  Phenomenal timing.

      We will adjourn until -- we'll have a slightly longer lunch break.  The Board has some business to conduct, and so we will reconvene at 1:45.  Thank you.

--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:29 p.m.


--- On resuming at 1:49 p.m.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Please be seated.  Thank you.

     Mr. Sidlofsky.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thank you, sir.  I think I will actually be fairly brief.  I was able to cut down my questions a bit over the lunch break.  I'm not sure what the Panel's plan is in terms of the hour that we might be sitting to today, but that I believe all of us have witnesses here who might like to get home at the end of today.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  We'll get back to you on that.  We'll certainly sit until 4 o’clock, and we'll talk about sitting later.  Would that be a convenience to the parties?

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  I think that would be fine, sir.

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  Certainly 4:00 is fine.  I don't know about later, frankly, but let's talk about that.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Okay.  Thank you.


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. SIDLOFSKY:

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sir, you'll recall that I provided the Board with copies of the 1997 RTPII agreement and a 2000 RTPII agreement.  I've decided I'd just like to touch on those very briefly with Mr. Howe, so perhaps we could have those marked.  

     MR. MILLAR:  K1.4, which will be -- Mr. Sidlofsky, would you care to characterize the document, just for the convenience of the court reporter?

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  K1.4 would be an agreement for RTPII power, April 1997.

     MR. MILLAR:  All right.  That will be K1.4.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Do you have any objection to that,

Mr. Smitheman?

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  No.

EXHIBIT NO. K1.4:  AGREEMENT FOR RTPII POWER DATED APRIL 1997

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And then K1.5 would be agreement for RTPII power, February 1st, 2000.

     MR. MILLAR:  K1.5.

EXHIBIT NO. K1.5:  AGREEMENT FOR RTPII POWER DATED FEBRUARY 1, 2000


MR. MILLAR:  Do you have copies of those, Mr. Chair?

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  The Panel does, yes.  Thank you.  We may have some legibility issues, but we've got them.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  I apologize for that, sir.  It's only really one paragraph that I'll be referring to in each of these agreements, and I think I can actually muddle through the wording there, if it will help the Board.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Now, sir, Mr. Howe, your position at the plant, was that general manager?

     MR. HOWE:  On-line manager, responsible for the plant or the mine.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And Mr. Shelton had been your director of purchasing?

     MR. HOWE:  That's right.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And that obviously included electricity purchases.  Would electricity have been a significant part of his responsibilities?

     MR. HOWE:  Yes.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And electricity must be a significant part of your operating costs as well.

     MR. HOWE:  It is.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And you would spend about how much a year?  I can probably do the math myself.

     MR. HOWE:  It was probably 3.1 million in 1999, and it's up close to 4.5, 5 million, now.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And Sifto was a standard large-use customer before going on to RTPII; is that right?

     MR. HOWE:  Yes.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And why did Sifto decide, I assume in 1997, to go on to RTPII pricing?

     MR. HOWE:  It was available.  And we were in an expansion phase, and there was obviously an opportunity to get incremental power at lower rates.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And in your affidavit, that would be in the February 20th material, Exhibit A to that 

affidavit --

     MR. HOWE:  Right.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  -- is, I guess what we could call your -- well, in the first place, it would be your actual bill for January 1999 on RTPII; is that right?

     MR. HOWE:  I'm just going to look at it.  That's right.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And then because at that point Goderich Public Utilities Commission was providing you with what we call the notional bills - I don't want to say mock bills, but bills that show what you would have been paying as a standard large-use customer - you have a sense of what your savings were every month?

     MR. HOWE:  Sorry?

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  You would have a sense of what your savings would be every month.

     MR. HOWE:  That's right.  And that was part of the equation, was it worthwhile staying on or not, on that rate.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sorry.  And I see in the example that you gave, in January of 1999, you saved just a little shy of $30,000 in that month, between $334,000 and $360,000?

     MR. HOWE:  Yes.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And was that typical?  Were you realizing savings similar to that?

     MR. HOWE:  I assume so.  You know, that's a typical bill.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And the --

     MR. HOWE:  Sorry.  


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sorry.  Go ahead.


MR. HOWE:  I do have some data here.  That was on the high side.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Okay.  Do you have any idea of what you would have saved in 1999, then?

     MR. HOWE:  In the whole -- $150,000 in the whole year.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Okay.  And I'm just looking at these bills, and I see that the demand figures seem to be different.  When I look at your RTPII bill, you're billed on the basis of 7,527 kilowatts?  That would be on the second page of that exhibit.

     MR. HOWE:  That's the baseline.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Yes.  And as for the rest, you were being billed on kilowatt-hours; is that right?

     MR. HOWE:  Can I just ask Mr. Snelson?

     MR. SNELSON:  I can help you there.  Yes, the rest was billed at the -- effectively, at the RTPII incremental rate, which was an energy rate.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  It was an energy rate and not a demand rate?

     MR. SNELSON:  That's correct.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And what you would have been billed as a standard large-use customer, it would have been on the basis of 9,916 KVA, but was that basically a substitute for kilowatts, or treated as an equivalent of kilowatts?

     MR. HOWE:  Yes.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And I assume, because you decided to go off RTPII in February of 2001, that was the time you decided that, as Mr. Shelton indicated in his affidavit, that there was really no significant advantage over the standard large-user rate at that point?

     MR. HOWE:  That's right.  Our business had dropped off somewhat, so the opportunity for incremental power use wasn't there over the baseline.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  So presumably, I am assuming that until 2001, at least until the beginning of 2001, you were realizing benefits; otherwise you would have gone off sooner.

     MR. HOWE:  That's right.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Now, Mr. Shelton, in his affidavit, and you've spoken to this this morning, says that he learned of West Coast's application for unbundled rates in early 2001.  I'm not sure if you were more specific when you were giving your evidence in-chief, but that was early -- that's right.  Early 2001 was when you learned of the West Coast application?

     MR. HOWE:  That’s right, and we can't really be more specific than that.  We were aware something was happening.  We didn't see the advertisement that was put in the paper.  Nobody made us aware of it at that time.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And I've looked at your affidavit material and I looked at Mr. Shelton's, and first of all, Mr. Shelton has said that he asked for late-intervenor status in late April of 1999.

     MR. HOWE:  That's right.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Your evidence this morning, and Mr. Shelton's in his affidavit, essentially, was that you didn't hear anything from the Board after that.  And it seems to me like the next contact you had with or from the

Board was in November, when you found out that the Board had issued its decision.

     MR. HOWE:  That's right.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Was there any contact with the Board in that interim period?

     MR. HOWE:  I don't believe so.  I think Mr. Snelson was doing some work on our behalf.

     MR. SNELSON:  I was having consultations with the consultants who had prepared the RUD model, and I think the hope at the time was that this could be settled without having to -- between the parties without having to bring the matter in front of the Board.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  I'm going to move over to you, Mr.

Snelson, but I have a question for Mr. Hopeson, actually.

     Appendix A to your report is Exhibit A to your 2006 affidavit, or at least, sorry, the appendix to the report 

-- the report itself is Exhibit A to your affidavit.  You have a statement in there to the effect that the second third of MARR was received from the utility.

     MR. HOPESON:  The first third of MARR.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Well, you also have an assumption in here that the second third of MARR was --

     MR. HOPESON:  Yes, in the March 1, 2002 rate application; that's correct.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Do you know that to be the case or is that an assumption on your part?

     MR. HOPESON:  I believe I relied on a manager summary of the March 1, 2002 rate application.  I don't know for a fact that it was actually -- those rates were actually approved.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  So you looked at the application; the application asked for the second tranche of MARR.

     MR. HOPESON:  Yes.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And that was the basis for your assumption; you don't know if that was actually granted.

     MR. HOPESON:  That's correct.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Okay.

     And once again, Mr. Snelson, I'm going to hold you off.

      Mr. Howe, I gave you the 1997 and 2000 agreements, which have just been marked as exhibits, and perhaps I could ask you to go to two places with me.  

      In the 1997 agreement -- and I once again apologize for the quality here.  We did the best we could to find the cleanest copy we could.  But if it helps, if you look in the upper right-hand corner of the pages in this document, you'll see page numbers.  And I'd like to take you to page number 6.  It's actually section B-3 of the agreement.  


Are you there?

     MR. HOWE:  Yeah.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And section B-3 is titled:  "Monthly

Payment."  I'll read it to you, because that will probably be easier for everyone who's trying to decipher it.

         "The monthly payment for power by the 

         customer to the commission” - 

and that would be the Goderich PUC -

         "for any month shall be the total of the

         access charge, the monthly energy charge, and

         any power factor corrective charge as

         described in section B6.

         “Notwithstanding anything else in this agreement,

         if the commission obtains the necessary

         regulatory approval, the commission shall be

         entitled to charge the customer, and the

         customer shall pay, in addition to the other

         charges set out in this agreement:

         (a) for line losses on power taken above

         the customer baseline; and

         (b) a monthly administration charge."

Have you seen a copy of this agreement before, sir?

     MR. HOWE:  Yes, a long time ago.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  That agreement was never signed by

Sifto?

     MR. HOWE:  No.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  The next agreement is the February 1st, 2000 agreement.  That's Exhibit K1.5.  And this one will be a little easier for everyone to read.  It's

actually a shorter paragraph.

     If I can take you to the second last page, this is

section B-4, the paragraph that I'm particularly interested in is near the bottom of the first column, the left-hand column on that page.

     MR. HOWE:  Yes.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  You're with me?

     MR. HOWE:  Yes, I'm okay.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Item C there refers to:

         "An administrative charge to cover the

         Commission's additional billing cost will be

         charged at $2,000 per month."

Have you seen this agreement before?

     MR. HOWE:  Yes.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  You have.  And this agreement wasn't signed either.

     MR. HOWE:  No.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Presumably?

     MR. HOWE:  No.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Were you involved in any negotiations over the form of these agreements?

     MR. HOWE:  No.  I was kept apprised of them by

Mr. Shelton.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Any idea why an agreement was never signed?

     MR. HOWE:  No.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Okay.  The fact is, though, that you remained on RTPII service from '97 to the beginning of 2001.

     MR. HOWE:  Yes.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  The customer baseline, if I could stick with the 2000 agreement, K1.5, the customer baseline figures shown here for 2000, that's on the next page.  That would be the last page of that.

     MR. HOWE:  Okay.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Were these figures actually used as the Sifto baseline?

     MR. HOWE:  I have no idea.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  So, similarly, you wouldn't know if any baseline figures from the 1997 agreement were actually applied?

     MR. HOWE:  I don't.  No.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Just for your reference, sir, there is a table of customer baseline figures on what's marked as page 8 of the 1997 agreement.  Do you have that there?

     MR. HOWE:  Yes.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  But you don't know whether those figures were the actual ones that were used in relation to Sifto's billing?

     MR. HOWE:  No, I don't.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Okay.  Mr. Snelson, I'm back to you, now.

     And just to start, you've determined that West Coast's rate design consultants omitted incremental cost-of-power charges from the calculation of the bill under RTPII.

     MR. SNELSON:  From the cost-of-power side, yes.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  That's right, and that would be the 

$132,000 that you spoke of --

     MR. SNELSON:  Yes.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  -- earlier.  And, as I understand it, that means that if the incremental power costs had been included in the calculation, the cost-of-power component would have been higher and that would have reduced the distribution -- excuse me, the distribution component of Sifto's overall bill, and as a consequence your liability to West Coast Huron would have been reduced.  Is that the way that works?

     MR. SNELSON:  The distribution revenue would have been reduced by $132,000 and the distribution rate would have been set at a lower value.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Right.  And I think what that led to was Sifto's determination that the 132,000 should have been included in the cost of power for RTPII?

     MR. SNELSON:  That was the first of the difficulties with the RUD model that we uncovered, either through  myself, through my work or through Mr. Bacon's work.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Now, on August 15th of 2001 - and I'd like to clarify something in addition to this - you met with RCS to discuss the West Coast unbundled rate application.  I believe that's from your affidavit.

     MR. SNELSON:  Yes.  


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  There was some suggestion this morning - I think it may have been on your part; it may have been on Mr. Howe's - that Mr. Bacon was part of that meeting as well.  Do you recall --

     MR. SNELSON:  No, Mr. Bacon was not part of that meeting.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Okay.  My understanding is Mr. Bacon was not involved until 2002.  Is that roughly --

     MR. SNELSON:  Early 2002, is my recollection.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Okay.  Now, at that point you requested that the 132,000 be included in the Sifto cost of power.

     MR. SNELSON:  Yes.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And my understanding is that RCS agreed with that adjustment?

     MR. SNELSON:  RCS agreed that it had been omitted but came back with the suggestion that the coincidence factors should be reduced.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Okay.

     Now, is it fair to say that at that time, when you were meeting with RCS and having your discussions, that your concern was with getting the RTPII calculation correct?

     MR. SNELSON:  Yes.  And the reason that I no longer think that's the appropriate route is that I was totally unaware of the unreasonably low coincidence factors that had been used for billing to have RTPII.  I thought that the billing would have been comparable to the billing for the large-user rate files.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Well, the idea that you wanted to get the RTPII calculation right seems to be consistent with what I counted to be the first 30 or so paragraphs of your affidavit from last year.

     MR. SNELSON:  Certainly that was the initial approach, yes. 

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Okay.  And do you have any idea of how that adjustment would have affected Sifto's distribution rates?

     MR. SNELSON:  The problem arises because of the low coincidence factors, and I did mention some of that in my direct evidence.


The effect would have been a higher distribution rate but an unreasonably low cost-of-power rate for a period after the RTPII had ended, because the coincidence factors that were used for billing RTPII were not related to the actual coincidence of the West Coast load with the -- the

Sifto load with the West Coast load.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  So we get to that point.  And in paragraph 28 of your affidavit from last year, you state that:

"Since Sifto was on the normal large-user rate before and after unbundling, the peculiarities of RTPII billing are not relevant to this consideration."

     MR. SNELSON:  That's correct.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  So am I correct in understanding that the $132,000, really, isn't a factor anymore in this calculation?

     MR. SNELSON:  If you were to redo the RUD model based on the alternative large-user bills, as I proposed in both my affidavits, then it is no longer a factor, because it doesn't come into play.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Now, I'm just trying to understand this a little bit better.  You've used 2001 coincidence factors, which --

     MR. SNELSON:  No.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  I see you shaking your head.

     MR. SNELSON:  No.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Well, there were assumed coincidence factors that you have since checked against 1996 coincidence factors; is that right?

     MR. SNELSON:  I asked for the -- when I was told that the coincidence factors of the Sifto load with the West Coast power was what I've been given as the informal actual values, my understanding was that they were 1999 values, and it was 1999 values that I was asking for.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  I see.  You happened to get them in 2001, but the idea was that they were 1999?

     MR. SNELSON:  That was my understanding.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And you've since received 1996 values that you're proposing to use?

     MR. SNELSON:  The values that were used in 1996 by Ontario Hydro Regulatory Affairs people to set the large-user rate, yes.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And it seems to me that the fundamental difference here, and I'm sure we'll hear about it from Mr. Bacon as well, the fundamental difference seems to be how Sifto should be treated in 1999, what it should be -– what it should have been considered to be in 1999.  Was it in 1999, or at the time of unbundling?

     MR. SNELSON:  What was the appropriate data to use to unbundle 1999 data to have an appropriate unbundling rate for use in the year 2001, when unbundling occurred, by which time Sifto was on the large-user rate.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Now, the West Coast application was made in 2000.

     MR. SNELSON:  I don't have that date.  I believe it was revised at a later date.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  My understanding is that it was made in late 2000, or the application was filed in late 2000.  Would that strike you as strange, or can I have that confirmed by our witness panel?

     MR. SNELSON:  I don't find it particularly strange, but I do believe that there was an update that was issued at a later date.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And at the time that the application would have been filed, if we assume that it was filed in December of 2000, then -- sorry, Sifto was still operating under the RTPII arrangement?

     MR. SNELSON:  In December 2000, Sifto was still on RTPII, yes. 

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  So you've looked at this with hindsight, admittedly, and you've suggested that the appropriate way to deal with this is by considering Sifto to have been a large-use customer as opposed to an RTPII customer; correct?

     MR. SNELSON:  Sifto -- sorry, West Coast would have known soon after they'd made their application that Sifto had changed.  There's also a question in my mind as to how you would have done the calculation if Sifto had not changed, but that’s not necessarily -- we don't need to consider that because Sifto did change.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Well, I think maybe we can agree to disagree on that.  I think we do need to consider that.  But what you've suggested is that it's not appropriate to treat Sifto as an RTPII customer.  There are problems with the bundling of rates for an RTPII customer, so we should be considering Sifto a large-use customer; correct?

     MR. SNELSON:  That is correct.  And if Sifto had not changed to the large-user rate, there are still problems with the RTPII unbundling that we'd have had to deal with in that circumstance, but we don't have to deal with it.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And even you and Mr. Bacon agree on some of those problems.

     MR. SNELSON:  Yes. 

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Now, if I could ask you to turn to page 20, table 6, of your 2005 affidavit.  Sorry, it's on page 20 of the affidavit.  It's table 6.

     MR. SNELSON:  Yes.  I have that.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And you've calculated a refund in that table of $686,611.

     MR. SNELSON:  That is correct.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And I'm going to take you to this year's calculation as well, because my question, really, is the same in both cases.


This year you've calculated $859,000, I believe.  And that would be at table 4 on page 8 of your February 2006 affidavit.

     MR. SNELSON:  That's correct.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Now, I just want to clarify something that came out of your evidence in-chief, and that is that your comment this morning was that the $858,000 - actually, it may have been in response to Mr. Millar's question - the $858,000 includes the adjustments for the power factor penalty and the diversity credit?

     MR. SNELSON:  Yes, it does.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  That is the entire amount of the refund that you've calculated?

     MR. SNELSON:  Yes.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Okay.  Now, I think you also mentioned to Mr. Millar that that would have to be updated because that still reflects 2005 --

     MR. SNELSON:  That is based on actual bills up until, I believe, November of 2004, and then estimates up to 2005.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Right.

     MR. SNELSON:  So it would need to be corrected with actual bills up until the most recent.  And if the Board's undertaking is to update until, I believe, April, then there would have to be a couple of months of estimated data at the end of that estimate.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And I understand, or I think I understand, the way you've done it here is you've tried to make your comparison apples to apples in the sense that both of these affidavits or both of these tables deal with the same effective dates.

     MR. SNELSON:  Yes.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Okay.  And in both cases, those are overall refunds; that is to say, in table 6 of your affidavit from last year, the $686,000 is also inclusive of the power factor penalty and the diversity credit --

     MR. SNELSON:  Yes.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  -- adjustments.

     Now, you spoke to it this morning, and in paragraph 51 of your 2005 affidavit you've suggested - and that's conveniently right under table 6, where you've calculated the $686,000 refund - you've said that:



"If the Board orders that West Coast should refund 

monies to Sifto as a result of this application, the Board may be asked to make an accounting ruling as to whether the costs should be absorbed by West Coast or whether they can be recovered in future rates from all customers."


And you elaborated on that this morning, I think, where you talked about the possibility of treating this -- treating these refunds as regulatory assets that could then be recovered from, actually, not just the remaining –- not just the remaining West Coast customers but from all West Coast customers, including Sifto; correct?

     MR. SNELSON:  Yes.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Now, you've drawn a distinction between that portion of the 686,000 or the $858,000 that relates to the $304,000 calculation of the diversity credit and power factor penalty corrections; is that right?

     MR. SNELSON:  Yes.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Now, if the costs are to be recovered in future rates from all of West Coast's customers, how do you see Sifto getting paid its refund?  Would the refund be paid over time or would Sifto expect a cheque up front?

     MR. SNELSON:  I haven't really thought about that question.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Well, it's really the flip side of taking the money from everyone else, isn't it?

     MR. SNELSON:  Yes, except that if Sifto were to be given the money up front, then in recovering it from other customers, the usual treatment of that kind of thing is to add interest to the regulatory asset account for the unrecovered portion.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And what would your suggested approach be, then?

     MR. SNELSON:  I don't see any reason why Sifto shouldn't get the money up front.  They've paid the money out.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And should West Coast be entitled to add carrying charges?

     MR. SNELSON:  I think that would be normal regulatory practice, yes.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  I think it's normal for regulatory assets the way they've been prepared so far, isn't it?

     MR. SNELSON:  Yes.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sir, if you could just bear with me for a minute.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Sure.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sorry, sir, those ...

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I beg your pardon.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  No, that's fine, Mr. Chair.  Sorry to interrupt.  Those are my questions.  Thank you.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.  

Any redirect, Mr. Smitheman?

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  Yes, if I might just briefly.  

RE-EXAMINATION BY MR. SMITHEMAN:


MR. SMITHEMAN:  There are questions raised in cross-examination by both counsel, Mr. Snelson, and just if we can clarify this.  

If you can go to table 4 on page 8 of your most recent 2006 affidavit, you were asked if the amounts there included the power factor penalty and, I believe, the diversity credit.  Do you recall that?

     MR. SNELSON:  Yes, I do.

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  All right.  And if you go to paragraph

24 of your affidavit --

     MR. SNELSON:  Yes.

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  -- as my friend asked you about this, and you agreed that the amount was $304,838?

     MR. SNELSON:  Yes.

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  And that was for power factor penalties and for the diversity credits; is that right?

     MR. SNELSON:  Yes.

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  And then I believe your answer to

Mr. Millar was that diversity credits and power factor penalties were included in your calculation at table 4.  

Could you assist us?  What exactly did you mean by that, in conjunction with, taking into account your paragraph 24?

For clarity, I think what Mr. Millar was asking you, and I want you to clarify this, is that when you come to the amount of $858,000 that's owing, does that include the amount that you say is owing in paragraph 24, or is that in addition?

     MR. SNELSON:  No.  That includes it.

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  That includes it.  And that includes it in the amount owing --

     MR. SNELSON:  Yes.

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  -- is that right, as opposed to the calculation for the 858,000?

     MR. SNELSON:  The calculation of the power factor penalty is implicit in the 858,000 rather than explicit.

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  Yes.

     MR. SNELSON:  The calculation of the diversity credit is explicit in the 858,000.

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  The 858,000.  And then, but for the amounts that were overpaid in the past, is that what we see on paragraph 24?

     MR. SNELSON:  Paragraph 24 is a subset that could be recovered, could be repaid to Sifto, for overpayments that could be implemented based on the RUD model as submitted.  Say that the decision of the Board were to be the RUD, as submitted, can't be changed because of the complexities of the impact on other customer classes, then these two amounts could be refunded to Sifto without impact on other customer classes because they relate to the application of the RUD model rather than to the actual implementation of the RUD model.

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.


QUESTIONS FROM THE BOARD:

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I hesitate to clarify for the fourth time, but if the Board were to accept everything that you said, Mr. Snelson, and we ended up with a figure of $858,438, we should regard the $304,838 to be included in that amount?

     MR. SNELSON:  Yes.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  And the amount to be redistributed, according to your recommendation, would be $535,000 or whatever -- 553,000, that would be what is remaining?

     MR. SNELSON:  I think that would be a good way to look at it, yes.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

One further question, Mr. Snelson, and it just really has to do with how the RTPII rates applied.  The RTPII revenue from Sifto, my understanding from your testimony is that that money simply passed through West Coast books somehow.  It was passed through to Ontario Hydro.  Is that right?

     MR. SNELSON:  Yes.  The charge for RTPII incremental power, that top 5 percent --

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Right.

     MR. SNELSON:  -- was charged by OPG at a certain rate. 

That amount was passed through to Sifto as a charge to 

Sifto.  And, in addition, West Coast was allowed to add 3 percent of that amount as a contribution to local costs.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  And who would pay that 3 percent?

     MR. SNELSON:  Sifto would pay that to West Coast.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  As an administration of that pass-through?

     MR. SNELSON:  It was not classified as administration. 

It was considered to be a contribution to local costs, whatever they might be.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Okay.  Thank you.

     Thank you.  The Board has no more questions.  The witness panel is excused.

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  That's the case for Sifto, or the evidence.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Okay.  Thank you very much. 

I appreciate your assistance.  

Mr. Sidlofsky, do you want to take ten minutes and change chairs here?

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  That would probably be helpful, sir, if we could.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  We'll adjourn until 20 minutes to the hour.  Thank you.

--- Recess taken at 2:28 p.m.


--- On resuming at 2:40 p.m.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Please be seated.  Thank you.

     Would you like these witnesses sworn, Mr. Sidlofsky?

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  I would, sir, thank you.


WESTCOAST HURON ENERGY INC. – PANEL 1:


Peter Ioannou; Sworn.


Larry McCabe; Sworn.


Bruce Bacon; Sworn.


EXAMINATION BY MR. SIDLOFSKY:
     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Sidlofsky?  Thank you.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thank you, sir.  


Two administrative matters.  I've provided to the Board and to my friends copies of a package of CVs, including those of Mr. Bacon, Mr. McCabe and Mr. Ioannou.  Perhaps, seeing as I've put them together as a package, could we have those marked as a package, as well?

     MR. MILLAR:  K1.6.  Does the panel have those?

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Yes, we do.  Thank you.

EXHIBIT NO. K1.6:  CURRICULUM VITAES OF WESTCOAST HURON ENERGY - PANEL 1 

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And I've also provided to the Board and my friends a copy of a chart that was prepared by Mr. Bacon to assist in his explanation of his evidence in-chief.  I think that would be K1.7, then?

     MR. MILLAR:  Yes, K1.7.

EXHIBIT NO. K1.7:  CHART PREPARED BY BRUCE BACON

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Any comment, Mr. Smitheman?

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  None.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  I'm just going to take each of the witnesses briefly through their CV first.  I'll start with

Mr. Bacon.


Mr. Bacon, you're with Elenchus Research Associates right now, and you have been since May 2003.  And prior to that, you were with Econalysis Consulting Services, which I understand is a sister company of Elenchus; is that right?

     MR. BACON:  That is correct.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And you have 25 years’ experience in the electricity and natural gas industries.


MR. BACON:  That’s right. 


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And it is in the short- and long-term financial and pricing impacts of business alternatives --


COURT REPORTER:  Mr. Sidlofsky, could you please slow down.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  I’m sorry about that.

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  If it's of any assistance, I do accept the credentials of Mr. Bacon for purposes of this hearing.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  That will be fine, sir.  I can start off with Mr. Bacon right now.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, Mr. Smitheman.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And for the Board's information, I should confirm that Mr. Bacon would be qualified as an expert in distribution rate design.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  No comment, Mr. Smitheman?  


The Board will recognize Mr. Bacon according to that, thank you.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Mr. McCabe, you are the clerk administrator of the Town of Goderich, but, more relevant to these proceedings, you're the president and secretary of West Coast Huron Energy Inc.

     MR. McCABE:  That's correct.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And you've held that position since January 1st of 2001.

     MR. McCABE:  That's correct.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And you're familiar with matters that are under discussion today; is that right?

     MR. McCABE:  Yes.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Mr. Ioannou, you are the vice-president of regulatory affairs with Regulatory Compliance Services?

     MR. IOANNOU:  Yes.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And you were previously, prior to 2000, I believe, is that right, you were director of finance and secretary-treasurer for East York Hydro?

     MR. IOANNOU:  That's right.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And in that capacity, you were responsible for financial activities of the utility, including rates, management information services, collections, customer services, billing, inventory control and auditing.

     MR. IOANNOU:  That's right.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And did you prepare the initial unbundled rate application for West Coast Huron?

     MR. IOANNOU:  I did, yes.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  I suppose at that point it would have been the Goderich Public Utilities Commission; is that 

right?  Or was it already West Coast Huron at that time?

     MR. IOANNOU:  I believe it was West Coast.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And, I'm sorry, you prepared their initial unbundled rate application?

     MR. IOANNOU:  Yes, I did.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And I understand that you've prepared subsequent applications for them as well; is that right?

     MR. IOANNOU:  Yes, I did.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And West Coast Huron isn't the only utility that you act for in that capacity.

     MR. IOANNOU:  No, there were a fair number of others that I dealt with during the early years, probably in the region of 20 to 25 utilities.  Right now we're only dealing with approximately 15 utilities.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And are you involved in designing the rates for those utilities?

     MR. IOANNOU:  Most of them, yes.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sir, I'm proposing that Mr. Ioannou be qualified as an expert to provide evidence on distribution rate design.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Smitheman?

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  I'm content, yes.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.  


On that basis, we'll recognize Mr. Ioannou.  Thank you.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thank you, sir.


Now, this morning, when we began, my friend took you through a large part of the evidence that his witness panel intended to present.  And you noted that typically you prefer to let the affidavits speak for themselves in proceedings such as these.  And although here it would be appropriate to hear from the panels, and West Coast certainly agrees, I'm not going to take you through the West Coast filing.  


We believe that that filing speaks for itself, and the witness panel will take you through some of the highlights.  The panel will also, as you'll hear, be essentially repeating and relying upon that material that's in their -- that's in the May -- excuse me the March 2005 filing.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  I do want to touch on a few points very briefly, though, sir.  And already at a quarter to three I'm conscious of the time, and I want to make sure that this is moved along.  But what you'll hear from the West Coast panel is in some ways quite similar and in other ways quite different from what you've heard from the Sifto panel.


You heard my friend, Mr. Smitheman, and members of the panel reiterate that West Coast consultant Mr. Bacon has acknowledged that certain items are incorrect in the West Coast filing for their initial unbundled rates.  And Mr. Bacon has acknowledged this previously, and that remains correct.  I don't think there's any secret about that.  But I think where we differ fundamentally is in this, and that is the question of whether it's appropriate to make some and not all of the corrections that arise out of the original application.


West Coast, for its part, says that it's not appropriate to pick and choose among your corrections.  West Coast will submit that Sifto ought not to be able to choose only those adjustments and corrections that suit it or that benefit Sifto.

      And this goes to what Mr. Bacon will refer to as the main area of disagreement in this case.  Should the Board assume that Sifto was an RTPII customer in 1999, which was, effectively, the base year for the initial unbundled rate applications made in 2000?  Or should it be assumed that Sifto was a standard large-use customer when those initial unbundled distribution rates for Sifto and the rest of West Coast's customers were designed?


And, as you'll hear, Mr. Bacon's opinion is that the Board's initial Distribution Rate Handbook should be the basis for West Coast's initial unbundled rates, as it was for all other local distribution companies in the province, and that means the use of 1999 data and the acceptance of the state of affairs as it was in 1999, with Sifto as an RTPII customer.


Now, there are a couple of other issues here.  One is also related to the state of affairs in 1999.  And that was the fact that Sifto was receiving the benefits of lower bills as a result of its choice to become an RTPII customer.  It was receiving the benefit of billing services for the RTPII rates, but apparently it's not prepared to –- it wasn't prepared to pay for those services, because it wouldn't sign an RTPII agreement, notwithstanding that it had received at the RTPII service and benefits.


Now, I'm going to stop there, sir, and I'm going to let the panel speak for itself.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.  

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  If I could just begin by asking each of you to provide an overview of your roles in relation to West Coast Huron Energy and the matters that you wish to address in this hearing.  Perhaps I could start with Mr. McCabe.

     MR. McCABE:  I'll address a number of matters.  My role with the West Coast Huron Energy is as president and secretary.  I did go as secretary to the former PUC, there were general managers in place and secretary-treasurers in place.  So my role involved with some of the discussions, or any of the discussions, from 1996 forward until approximately 2000 was limited.  I was there from -- with some apprehension, from across the road, at town hall, and I think since then we've developed a good working relationship through the development of the corporation and going forward. 

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Mr. Bacon.

     MR. BACON:  Yes, as mentioned I'm a senior consultant with Elenchus Research Associates, with over 25 years' experience in utility rate design, both as an external consultant and as a staff member of Ontario Hydro and TransCanada PipeLines.

      Since the restructuring of Ontario's electricity sector and the issuance of the OEB's Rate Handbook in 2000,

I've been actively involved in the preparation of distribution rate applications for over 30 LDCs in Ontario.  I've served as an active member on various OEB task forces that have prepared the handbooks and codes relevant to the electricity distribution business in the province, and I was also on the same task force with Mr. Snelson when we talked about unbundling the rates for distribution.

     In 2004 I was a member of four working groups for the

OEB's 2006 EDR process, and I'm currently on the cost-allocation technical advisory team for the upcoming LDC cost-allocation studies.  And I have appeared numerous times before this Board on rate-related matters.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And, Mr. Ioannou, I took you through your CV, and we've also discussed the fact that you prepared the initial unbundled distribution rates for West Coast Huron.  Do you have anything to add to those comments?

MR. IOANNOU:  I do believe we've covered pretty much

everything that ...

      MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Okay. 

      Now, each of you swore an affidavit last year in response to Sifto's filing, related to its requested review of the OEB's 2001 decision on West Coast's initial unbundled distribution rates, and I know you all recall those affidavits.  I see you all nodding yes.


MR. IOANNOU:  Yes.


MR. McCABE:  Yes.


MR. BACON:  Yes.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thank you.  And does each of you -– we should have practiced that a bit, sir.


Does each of you confirm that the statements in those affidavits continue to represent your evidence in this matter, subject to any revisions that may be put before the Board today?

     MR. IOANNOU:  Yes.


MR. McCABE:  Yes.


MR. BACON:  Yes.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Mr. Bacon, I note, and it was something I might have mentioned in my opening comments but didn't because I wanted to move on to the panel, but your conclusion was if the rates are calculated as you would say they should be, which is taking into consideration the state of affairs in 1999, then Sifto actually owes West Coast money; is that right?

     MR. BACON:  That's correct.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  I assume you're going to get to that later so I'm going to leave that.

     Now, Mr. McCabe, the Sifto complaint relates to West Coast Huron’s initial unbundled distribution rate application in 2000.  Can you advise the Board of the procedure that was followed in that application?

     MR. McCABE:  Yes, I can.  Sifto's -- I'll briefly explain it because it's in the affidavits.  But in 2000, and I would say now in 2006, we understand more that the distribution ratemaking process is very complex.  We decided, as a small LDC, to retain the services of an expert outside.  We did not have the resources from within to do it.  So we used the services of RCS, or Mr. Peter Ioannou’s firm.  And the application for the initial unbundling distribution rates was filed in December the 29th, 2000.

We received a letter of direction from the OEB with respect to our application, and we followed the Board's instructions by publishing, in the February 7th edition of the local newspaper, an ad advising the public of the proposed new rates and requesting anyone having a concern with the rates to address them as an intervenor within the specified time frames.

Until late April 2001, approximately two months after

the expiry of the deadline of the notice of intervention, we had heard nothing from Sifto or any other proposed intervenor, and there was no response, either formal or informal, from Sifto to the application or the public notice of the application.

The OEB reviewed West Coast Huron’s application and issued its decision with reasons and order approving the application by West Coast on November 16th, 2001.  A copy of the decision and reasons is Exhibit B to my original 2002 and 2005, being schedule A to the affidavit.

The OEB acknowledged and approved a number of adjustments, and these include miscellaneous charges of a late payment from a 5 percent one-time charge to a monthly rate of 1.5 on overdue balances and the removal of water heater rental revenues from our 1999 returns.

     In its decision, the OEB concluded that there are no other significant deviations from the Electricity Distribution Rate Handbook and that the Board finds that the rates applied for are just and reasonable.

      MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Mr. McCabe, can you tell us about Sifto's involvement in this matter?

     MR. McCABE:  Yes, I can.  And I'll speak, first of all, to the letter of agreement, and I'll try to stick to what I think is -- what I know is fact with regard to the unsigned agreement that has been put before the Board today.

     Sifto is a long-time electricity customer of West Coast, and before that the Goderich Public Utilities Commission.

     In January 1997, Mr. Shelton advised the Goderich PUC that he wanted Sifto to be build under Ontario Hydro's real-time pricing II option.  A letter of agreement was put together between the then-Goderich Public Utilities

Commission, the Ontario Hydro, and ultimately it was signed by Mr. Shelton on behalf of Sifto.  In that it acknowledges an agreement would be forthcoming.  I won't get into any assumptions.  I presume that was being worked on, and that's all I will say at this point.

The tri-party agreement among Sifto and Goderich PUC and Ontario Hydro, the letter of agreement went on to say:

“We are prepared to offer the rate to you effective January 1, 1997, provided you are willing to accept the enclosed baseline and agree to sign a tri-party agreement.”


That agreement would formalize the details pertaining to the RTPII.  Mr. Shelton was requested to execute the agreement by January 24th, 1997, confirming Sifto's acceptance of the terms and conditions of the letter of agreement, in order that the RTPII pricing could start February 1, 1997. 


Mr. Shelton did execute that letter, the letter of agreement.  I understand that Sifto began receiving the RTPII rate pricing as of February the 1st, 1997.

     I have reviewed West Coast Huron Energy's records and I cannot find an executed copy of the agreement.

     The latest of version of the agreement has been mentioned previously, February 1, 2000, and that agreement contains a provision of $2,000 per month.  And I will speak to an arrangement of -- an accounting arrangement, a software arrangement, between Goderich PUC and Port Hope utility.  I don't want to lose that.  I will speak to it at the end of this part.

Section 5.1 indicated that:

"The customer shall pay the Commission monthly charges under this agreement in accordance with the provisions of this agreement.”

And, B-4:

“An administrative charge, to recover the

Commission's additional billing cost, will be charged at $2,000 per month.”

 
The analysis of the Sifto matter that Mr. Bacon performed for West Coast confirmed that from 1997 to February 2001 there were significant outstanding charges in the amount of $96,000 owed by Sifto to West Coast with respect to the real-time pricing rate program.

     Sifto received the benefits of the RTPII pricing for four years with billing service for that pricing provided by the PUC throughout that time.  But Sifto has claimed in 2002, and again in 2005, that it is under no obligation to pay an administrative charge for that service.

     I believe that it is unfair.  Aside from the fundamental unfairness of this position, Mr. Bacon has advised me and the board, “the board” being West Coast Huron Energy Inc., that the denial of an administrative charge for this service would be inconsistent with the obligations of other RPTII customers who also receive the RTPII pricing under agreements that provided for administrative charges payable to the LDC for provisions of billing services.

     The amount of 2,000 wasn't paid but there was an arrangement, talking to staff - and I don't know the exact amount - it was around 4 or $500 a month, each month, for a four-year period.

     The utility did not have the capabilities of an MV90 program, so they used Port Hope, Ontario, as the calculation of this rate.  I don't understand any of that, so we won't go there.  But they did pay them X number of dollars.  I think it was between 4 and 500, or around that amount, each month during that term, which leads us -- I understand that maybe there should have been a signed agreement at that point, why it wasn't, and there should have been a fee paid because it was based on the administration fees within and outside the LDC.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Just a matter of clarification, Mr. McCabe.  When you say they were paying 300 to $400, who was “they”?

     MR. McCABE:  Goderich PUC.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  So Goderich PUC was paying Port Hope an administration fee?

     MR. McCABE:  An administration fee for the calculation.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

     MR. McCABE:  In late April -- do you wish me to continue?

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  That would be fine.  Thank you.

     MR. McCABE:  In late April 2001, Mr. Gregory Shelton, at that time an employee of Sifto and Goderich, contacted us about the large-user distribution rates.  In an effort to maintain good working relations, we had several discussions with Sifto on the matter, and we also had RCS meet with Sifto consultant, Mr. Snelson, to discuss the development of the distribution rates.  


West Coast Huron used the rate unbundling and design model that was issued by the OEB for use by all LDCs in the initial unbundled rate applications filed in fall of 2000.  Sifto alleged that the rate unbundling model used in West Coast Huron’s application did not incorporate customers that were on the RTPII option.  Sifto was on the RTPII operation, and as such it believed that by not including incremental power costs, Sifto's contribution to distribution revenue and its resulting distribution rates would be overstated.  In addition, Sifto believed it was being double-charged for the power factor penalties.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And, Mr. McCabe, how did you deal with Sifto's concerns?

     MR. McCABE:  We thought, at that time, because there were so many concerns about the methodology used in the 

RTPII rate, that we would try another independent third party to resolve the matter.  So at the LDCs’ expense, we hired an independent third party to review and assess the methodology supporting the approved distribution rates.  We then retained Mr. Bruce Bacon for the review, and to determine Sifto's rate for the mine.


Mr. Bacon found a number of appropriate adjustments, and he'll speak more to those later, to the data used in the RUD model.  He found that there were errors in the way in which the diversity credit and the power factor penalty had been calculated in respect of Sifto.


He also found that if the RUD model rates were to be revised using the corrected and appropriate base, on a resubmission of the RUD -- appropriate information, excuse me, Sifto's distribution rates would increase, based on the resubmission of the RUD.


In essence, Mr. Bacon's overall finding was that, actually, Sifto was undercharged by West Coast Huron, even once the power factor penalty and the diversity credit errors were corrected.


We sent Mr. Bacon's findings to Sifto.  We met, as indicated previously, in April and June of 2002, with Sifto representatives and our consultants.  We tried, through the course of the summer of 2002, to settle the matter, but we were unable to do so.  Even though Sifto would be paying more, if all the appropriate adjustments were made to Sifto's distribution rates, Sifto has pursued the review of its rates, demanding the adjustments that benefit Sifto.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Mr. McCabe, the numbers may have changed since 2002, and even since two weeks ago, but is this the same position that Sifto has maintained since its initial complaint about your unbundled rates?

     MR. McCABE:  I'm not sure.  The initial unbundling of rates was based on 1999 data, which was what the Board's initial Distribution Rate Handbook required.  Sifto's original complaint was that West Coast hadn't properly accounted for the RTPII customer.  Mr. Bacon found that properly accounting for RTPII customers would mean that Sifto had underpaid for distribution.


Last year's approach by Sifto seems to have been to say that it should not have been treated as an RTPII customer, because Sifto decided in 2001 that it would terminate its RTPII arrangement.  Instead, it now says it should have been treated like a typical, large-use customer.


Either way, Sifto has decided that West Coast Huron owes Sifto money, but it seems that the reasons have been shifting.  However, I understand that Mr. Bacon has again concluded that Sifto has been undercharged for distribution services, and Mr. Bacon will be speaking to this change in position.


As a distribution company, we have followed the Board's Handbook and used the 1999 data for all of our customers, and that is what we were required to do by the Ontario Energy Board.  As a result of the work to date, there are adjustments that benefit Sifto and those that do not.  In the interest of all customers, if there is to be a change in the allocation of costs among West Coast Huron customer classes, I believe that those changes should be made after a cost-allocation study, the methodology for which is being developed by the Ontario Energy Board as we speak.  


And I expect that regular intervenors of OEB rates proceedings, such as VECC, the Consumers Council, the School Energy Coalition, and perhaps others, would want to have input into the cost-allocation process if it appeared that Sifto wanted to shift approximately three-quarters of a million dollars to other West Coast Huron customers.  Those might not be the exact figures since the presentations, but --

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And, sir, you are familiar with the submission that was made last year by West Coast Huron?  

Mr. McCabe?

     MR. McCABE:  Yes, I am.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And in that submission we had requested certain items of relief, and one of those was to dismiss Sifto's request for an order declaring that the large-user distribution and cost-of-power rates charged by West Coast to Sifto after March 2001 are unjust and unreasonable, and for its costs of its motion for commencement of rehearing, and the rehearing itself.

     And last year's submission also requests that the Board order Sifto to pay West Coast $274,000, a little more than $274,000, and that represents the difference between the amounts billed to Sifto by West Coast for the period of March 1, 2000 through February 28, 2005.


You're familiar with that request for relief?

     MR. McCABE:  Yes.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And I trust that that remains the relief that you would still support in this; is that correct?

     MR. McCABE:  That's correct.  

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  But you've also considered other appropriate approaches; is that right?

     MR. McCABE:  That's correct.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Okay.  And do you have any alternatives that you might offer to the Board?

     MR. McCABE:  Well, West Coast Huron continues to believe that the most appropriate approach in this matter is to maintain the status quo and to consider adjusting the rates on a going-forward basis, following a cost-allocation study.  We feel that to do otherwise prejudices that study and work presently being carried on by the OEB and the Cost-Allocation Working Group.


If the OEB determines that things must change retroactively, then the changes should reflect Mr. Bacon's calculation, which means that the power factor and diversity credit double-counting will be addressed.  But all other necessary adjustments will be made as well.  As a result, Sifto will be paying a higher amount in distribution costs.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And, Mr. Bacon, could you discuss your involvement in this matter?

     MR. BACON:  In the spring of 2002, I was retained by West Coast to conduct an independent review of the West Coast distribution rate --

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  Pardon me for one second.  Sorry to interrupt.  This is not meant by way of an objection, but I just want to be clear that the panel is relying, for their comments, either on their independent recollections or specifically on the affidavit material that has been filed and is a part of the record.  Is that correct?

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Is that a question?

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  Yes.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Yes.

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  Okay.  Thank you.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thank you.

     MR. BACON:  Okay.  I'll just continue on, then.


I was hired as an independent consultant to review the

West Coast distribution rates applicable to Sifto in response to Sifto's motions for a rehearing of West Coast's rate application on the issue of distribution rates for large users.  And, as we know, Sifto is the only large user in the West Coast service area.


During the spring of 2002, I reviewed the West Coast distribution rates in the context of the Rate Handbook and the RUD model as they pertained to the design of distribution rates for large users, while also taking into consideration Sifto's status as a real-time pricing II customer during the Rate Handbook reference year of 1999.

     Along with this independent review, I also reviewed Sifto's evidence prepared by Mr. Snelson.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And, sir, could you describe your findings.

     MR. BACON:  I found there were a few areas of the initial unbundled rate application calculation that required adjustment.  Some have been addressed by Mr. Snelson, and others have not, but all require  consideration.

     There are three areas which I agree with Mr. Snelson on, and these include a double-counting of $90,016 for power factor penalties in 1999.  And they did occur in the original RUD model.

     The diversity credits should have been included in the rate schedule as a separate credit to the applicable -– to be applicable until market-opening.

     There's also an adjustment of $132,413 for RTPII cost of power, should have been allocated to Sifto in the original West Coast RUD model.  However, as Mr. McCabe has mentioned, this amount was not used by Mr. Snelson in his analysis of the amount payable by West Coast to Sifto.

This suggests to me that on one hand Sifto's position is to assume RTPII conditions when it's beneficial in their case, but on the other hand, change their position when RTPII is not beneficial.

The analysis prepared by Mr. Snelson assumes Sifto is not in RTPII, even though that was the case in 1999.  It appears Sifto does not want to recognize that being in RTPII could reduce the demand component of the cost-of-power charges and increase the distribution rates to Sifto.  And I'll discuss this in more detail later on.

     This leads to the main area of disagreement in this case.  The issue is whether it should be assumed that Sifto was in RTPII or on standard rates when the initial unbundled distribution rates for Sifto were designed.

     In its original complaint, Sifto suggested that the initial unbundled rates had not accurately reflected Sifto's status as an RTPII customer.  Sifto is now suggesting standard large-user rates should be used, and that is reflected in the proposal to use what I would call as 2001 assumptions or 1996 assumptions.

     In my opinion, the appropriate approach is to adhere

to the Rate Handbook, like all other LDCs in the province have done, and use 1999 assumptions based on 1999 data.  And that means that RPTII rates should be used, and this would produce revenue neutrality in 1999.

     At this point, I'd like to refer to the chart that was provided this afternoon as Exhibit, I think, K1.7.  Is that the correct number?

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Yes, it is.

     MR. BACON:  We have hopefully clearly explained to the

Board the implications of using various assumptions on all customers of West Coast.  Now, I say “hopefully”.  There is a lot of information here, but we prepared it specifically to assist the Board in its understanding of the main issue in this case, being the assumptions to be used for unbundling of rates.

There's a significant amount of information here, but hopefully it will help you in your deliberations.

     The chart shows the distribution margin after market-opening for the large-user class of West Coast at the time of unbundling for various cases that Sifto and West Coast have asked the Board to consider today.

As outlined in the original OEB Distribution Rate

Handbook, the distribution margin is the difference between the bundled revenue and the cost of power for the rate class.  It is this distribution margin that was used to determine the initial unbundled distribution rates.

     The first case is shown at the far left of the chart, and it's entitled "Approved”.  This represents the information used to determine the unbundled West Coast large-user distribution rates approved by the OEB.

     It shows revenue of $3,302,000 and a cost of power of $3,032,000 for a distribution margin of $270,000.  And this calculation was based on the West Coast and their rate design consultant, RCS, understanding at the time of how to apply the RUD model to the best of their knowledge.

     In its February 2005 and 2006 evidence, Sifto has put forward two cases for the Board's consideration.  

The first is Sifto's proposal using what I call 2001 assumptions, with Sifto on standard large-user rates, and not on RTPII rates as they were in 1999.

      The second case is Sifto's proposal using 1996 assumptions, with Sifto on standard large-user rates.

      Now, the information on the chart was drawn from evidence prepared by Mr. Snelson.  And in both cases the bundled revenue is $3,486,000.  However, the cost of power in the 2001 case is $3,271,000, providing a distribution margin of $215,000.

      In the 1999 case, the cost of power is $3,328,000, providing a distribution margin of $158,000.  And these cases both suggest that distribution rates for Sifto should decrease from the approved case, as the distribution margins should decrease.  However, the RUD model indicates that when the distribution margin decreases for one class, the distribution margin for the other classes should increase.

     Sifto suggests in the 2001 case used last year that they are owed -– now, it says in my chart $907,780, from West Coast.  Now, based on the discussion we had with Mr. Snelson, that includes the amount that he's saying is owed of $686,611, plus an amount which I've added on for  double-counting of power factor.

     Now, I must admit this is not an issue of contention between us.  We just actually, to a certain degree, need to figure out the number.  So it could be $907,780, but I also want to make it clear, according to Mr. Snelson, it is only $686,611.  So I want to make it clear this is not an area of contention.  It's basically we have to work it out.

But I have included the $221,169 as an estimate of what I think is the amount for double-counting of power factor penalty, because I'm trying to do an apples-to-apples comparison here, because I know for sure in my case, or in the case that's called “West Coast Proposal,” the double-count for the power factor penalty is in there.

Now, what I've also done is I've estimated the impact

on all other customers with the increase in their distribution margin.  I've determined that in 2001 case they would need to be in a retroactive increase in rates to collect $672,321, and in the 1999 case this amount would be

$822,007.

These amounts are simply determined by estimating the amount payable by all customers, excluding Sifto, with approved rates and comparing those to the amount payable assuming the proposed unbundled rates in each case, using actual statistics for the time period.

And the period covered for this analysis is the same

period used by Sifto in their analysis on how much they are owed.

In order to determine the actual retroactive adjustment for each individual customer, each bill issued since the time of unbundling would need to be reviewed, I would think, and this would be a costly undertaking for West Coast.

Now, with regards to the West Coast proposal shown on the column to the far right of the chart, it is my opinion that this case best reflects the 1999 conditions for Sifto being on the RTPII program.  This is consistent with the direction of the Rate Handbook that stipulates 1999 data should be used for the initial unbundling, and there are a couple of ways in which this current West Coast proposal differs from the rates and distribution margin approved by the OEB.

First, under this case, the total revenue has increased from $3,302,000 in the approved case to $3,326,000, to include a $2,000 per month administration charge that was a part of the standard RTPII agreement for power.  And based on my experience with other clients, this administrative charge was a standard provision contained in the special rate contracts like RTPII. 


In a case with another LDC, this administrative charge was included this their 1999 revenue for large users, and was used to determine the unbundled rates for the large-user class.  As a result, the 1999 large-user revenue should be adjusted upwards to reflect the fact that the sum of $24,000 was payable to West Coast by Sifto in 1999.


With regards to the cost of power, it has decreased from $3,032,000 in the approved case to $2,851,000, and this has decreased for two reasons.  


First, it actually increased by $132,000 for the energy component of the cost of power related to RTPII, which is consistent with the findings of Mr. Snelson in his evidence but which is ignored in Sifto's calculation of what they are owed. 


It is also decreased by $313,000 to reflect a reduction in the demand component of the cost of power.  Reducing the cost of power increases the distribution margin.


As part of my investigation into this case, I discovered through conversations with a colleague of mine,

Mr. Bill Harper, who is involved with RTPII, that for customers on RTPII, the LDC was charged demand for this customer by OPG based on the average monthly peak demand instead of the monthly peak demand.  The monthly peak demand was typically used by OPG to charge LDC demand charges.  Charging demand on the average basis significantly reduces the demand charges, and was left out of the Sifto evidence.


In fact, having received the benefits of opting into the RTPII program, and having originally complained about not being properly treated as an RTPII customer, Sifto now appears to want to ignore that fact that it was an RTPII customer in 1999, and be considered as simply a large-user customer when it comes to distribution rate making.


With this revised revenue and cost of power, this means the distribution margin for Sifto would increase to 

$475,000, and the distribution rates would in turn increase.  Under this case, Sifto would owe West Coast $274,190, and there would be a retroactive decrease in rates to other customers of $531,120.


This is consistent with my evidence in my affidavit of March 12, 2005, and the updated material provided by Sifto last week has not changed my calculation.


Now, the question, to my mind, is which of these cases appears reasonable?  At first glance, the margin in the West Coast proposal appears high.  However, in reviewing the original RUD model, I notice the market adjustment revenue requirement - currently, it has been referred to as the MARR, and I'll use that term going forward - the MARR in the West Coast RUD model is $444,194.


In 1999, the actual return amount was $361,245.  This suggests West Coast was earning over 80 percent of its MARR in 1999, and implies that its deemed return on equity was around 8 percent in 1999.  Based on my experience with many other LDCs, this rate of return was significantly higher, compared to typical 1999 returns in LDCs being – sorry, compared to the typical returns in LDCs that I'm familiar with being in the 1 to 2 percent range.


Now, looking at this level of return as well as the distribution margin in the West Coast proposed case suggests that the proposed case most likely reflects the actual condition in 1999, as the higher distribution margin from the RTPII program impacted the actual 1999 bottom line for West Coast, providing a return of about 8 percent, which is much higher than the industrial norm at the time.


This suggests to me that the West Coast proposal is reasonable, but it also raises the issue that if the distribution margin of the large-user class is so tied to the MARR, calculations for West Coast -- sorry, is so tied to the MARR calculations for West Coast, should this also be reviewed if the distribution margin on the large-user class changes?


However, with all this in mind, and looking at the information on this chart, it is my view that in the best interests of all customers of West Coast, it should be reasonable to maintain the initial unbundled rates already approved by the Board, and use the upcoming cost-allocation study to make any necessary adjustments between the rate classes.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Mr. Bacon, if the Board considers it appropriate to make changes to Sifto's rates, which way should they go?

     MR. BACON:  Well, I would suggest they would go with my proposal.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And Mr. Snelson's affidavit seems to contemplate the possibility of the Board simply making the power factor and diversity credit adjustments at this time. 

And Mr. Snelson also spoke about the possibility of using or applying the remaining amount, or treating the remaining amount as a regulatory asset to be recovered over time.  Do you have any thoughts on whether that's a reasonable approach?

     MR. BACON:  I'm going to reply to the fact that I --the question is relating to the power factor and the diversity credit?  Or you want the -- you can also consider, is the regulatory asset proposal a -- there's actually two questions.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  You're right.  Maybe we could start with the question about whether the power factor and diversity credit adjustments should be made now.

     MR. BACON:  I don't believe the power factor and the diversity credit alone should be made.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I didn't hear the last word there, Mr. Bacon.

     MR. BACON:  I don't believe the power factor and the diversity credit adjustment alone should be made, as a stand-alone basis.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Okay.

     MR. BACON:  Let me explain that.  I guess I use an illustration.  We're all in our tax -- we're all getting ready to prepare our taxes.  And it's nice -- you know, I make some contributions to some various organizations and it's nice when you get your tax receipt for your contributions.


Well, lo and behold, I got in the mail a T5 receipt about some investment that I had forgotten about and didn't really comprehend.  And that was something I didn't understand, but now I have to pay tax on it.  It's not a good thing.  And when I pay tax, I have to pay tax on the good things and on the bad things.


So I guess in the same context, to the whole process, we have found a whole bunch of adjustments that need to be made.  And I think it's only fair that they all be made, which is what we're trying -- if we're going to make adjustments, we should make them all, as opposed to pick and choose.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thank you, Mr. Bacon.  


Did you have any comments on the idea of the regulatory asset?

     MR. BACON:  The regulatory asset, I -- the regulatory asset proposal, meaning the dollars that would be collected from other customers, would go into a regulatory asset fund or into a deferral account and earn interest and be recovered from customers.  My only concern is that I think it would be fair that that be recovered -- if the Board decided that's the way they should go, that's a fair way to handle it.  However, I think it would be more fair that Sifto would receive its refund as West Coast is receiving its money from the other customers.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Okay.  Thank you, sir.


Mr. Ioannou, you prepared the original West Coast Huron unbundled rate application; correct?

     MR. IOANNOU:  That's right.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And since then, you had an opportunity to review Mr. Bacon's work?

     MR. IOANNOU:  Yes.  I know that Mr. Bacon’s conclusion was that when all adjustments he addressed in the affidavit and in his testimony today have been made, Sifto has underpaid West Coast Huron for distribution for the period of March 1, 2001 through February 28, 2005, in the amount of $274,190.

In my affidavit of March 14th, 2005, at tab 4 of the

West Coast responding materials, I discussed the fact that I took Mr. Bacon's findings and incorporated them into the OEB's 2005 rate adjustment model, which provided for the recovery of the final tranche of the LDC's market adjusted revenue requirements.  The revised model is at tab 4B of West Coast's material.

     I'd like to at this time mention that West Coast did not receive the second tranche of MARR in 2002.  West Coast's submission in 2002 was delayed because of the intervention by Sifto.

In the fall of 2002, the OEB approved the 2002 RAM. 

However, Bill 210 came into effect just prior to the OEB's approval.  Bill 210 was actually back-dated by a week or two.  So our approval came in; Bill 210, back-dated before the approval date, so that approval was not effective at that time.

     In both the versions of the 2005 RAM that was filed with the OEB in January 2005, which formed the basis for

West Coast's March 1, 2005 rates, with minor adjustments by the OEB, and in my revised RAM that incorporates Mr. Bacon's adjustments, there is a significant decrease in distribution rates and overall bills.  This is because of a reduction in regulatory asset recoveries for 2005.

However, in looking at Exhibit C of my affidavit, which compares the rates under the RAM as submitted in January 2005 with the rates under the revised version that accompanied my affidavit, we can see that rates in all classes other than the large-user class are reduced, and large-user rates are increased.

This is the effect of the necessary adjustments

identified by Mr. Bacon.

     I do not have Sifto's consumption figures for 2005, but clearly the $274,190 underpayment figure will be higher as of the end of April 2006.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Mr. Ioannou, you referred to Bill 210. 

I assume you're referring to the Electricity Pricing,

Conservation and Supply Act, 2002; is that right?

     MR. IOANNOU:  Yes.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Okay.  And one last question:  You'll recall that Mr. Bacon confirmed that the diversity credits should have been discontinued as of market-opening.  And he also confirmed that there had been a double-count of the power factor penalty; correct?

     MR. IOANNOU:  Yes.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  What's the status of those errors right now?

     MR. IOANNOU:  The double-counting for diversity credits stopped on market-opening, and the double-counting of the power factor penalty will stop once West Coast's 2006 rates are approved.  The power factor penalty cost has not been included in cost structure for 2006 rates.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thank you, panel.  

Mr. Chair, those are my questions.  The panel's available for cross-examination.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.  

Mr. Millar.

     MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. MILLAR:

     MR. MILLAR:  Good afternoon, gentlemen.  Again, the examination-in-chief has been very helpful in clearing up some of the matters I had questions on, so I think I should comfortably finish my cross-examination by 4 o'clock today.  It doesn't look like we'll finish the case today, unless Mr. Smitheman has only a very short cross-examination, but I think we'll at least get my questions out of the way.

I wanted to start while we had this chart in front of us, Exhibit K1.7.  I guess these questions will be for Mr. Bacon.

Mr. Bacon, you indicated that the first graph we see here, the first entry into the graph, are the approved figures.  And then if we look at the last one, the fourth one, I notice that the line across the top says "Revenue," or “R-E-V”, short for revenue.  I assume this stands for total class revenue?

     MR. BACON:  That's correct, yes.

     MR. MILLAR:  And I notice that in the last of the bars, it's increased by $24,000.

     MR. BACON:  Yeah.

     MR. MILLAR:  And you explained that's a result of the $2,000 monthly administrative charge?

     MR. BACON:  That's correct.

     MR. MILLAR:  Can you explain to me why we have a difference in the total class revenue in the two middle bars?  I'm not sure how we get -- how those numbers changed.

     MR. BACON:  In actual fact what's happening is you're seeing the impact of moving to standard rates on large-user –- moving the large user for standard rates.  And when you do that, under the assumptions that Mr. Snelson has used in his case, the revenue actually goes up.

To a certain degree, the difference between the approved case and the revenues showing in columns 1 -- or columns 2 and 3 is the savings that Sifto recognized, being in RTPII.  

     MR. MILLAR:  And just, again, by way of clarification, if we look in those two middle bars again, I see under “Cost of Power” the numbers are a little bit different.  Can you explain the difference?

     MR. BACON:  The difference is being -- is assuming the coincidence factors that Mr. Snelson used in his evidence, while also assuming Sifto is on large-user standard rates.

     MR. MILLAR:  Do we know what coincidence factor was used in the first bar, where we have the $3,032,000?

     MR. BACON:  It was a -- whatever the default values were.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Those would be the .712 and the 70 percent numbers; no?

     MR. BACON:  No, those 70 percent numbers are actually used in the far right in the West Coast proposal.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Okay.  Thank you.

     MR. BACON:  They are actually in Mr. Snelson's ...

     MR. MILLAR:  I believe it's table 3, page 11; is that right?

     MR. BACON:  Yes, .981 for winter and .991 for summer.  And those were the default values that, if you didn't know anything about your large-user class --

     MR. MILLAR:  That's what you use.

     MR. BACON:  -- that's what you use.

     MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  And, again, just to complete this set of questions on the coincidence factor, what about the fourth bar?  Is that where we're using the .721 and the .711 coincidence factor?

     MR. BACON:  That's correct; yes.

     MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  And a final question on this exhibit.  If I look again on the fourth bar, at the bottom, you have the text "Amount payable to West Coast, $274,000,” and "Retroactive decrease in rates to other customers" at just over $531,000.

     These amounts, do they include the diversity adjustment and the power factor adjustment?

     MR. BACON:  Yes, they do.  The 274,190 that is payable to West Coast is the amount of increased distribution rates from Sifto minus the double counts --

     MR. MILLAR:  Okay.

     MR. BACON:  -- okay?

     MR. MILLAR:  So it includes everything?

     MR. BACON:  Right.  

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Thiessen has pointed out one other question on this chart.  How is it that an amount payable by West Coast of $274,000 gives us a retroactive decrease of $531,000?

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Excuse me, Mr. Millar.  I'm just looking at the charts here.  Did you mean to say “the amount payable to West Coast”?

     MR. MILLAR:  Yes, I'm sorry.  I'm sorry, the amount

payable to West Coast by Sifto under this calculation, and how that leads to a $531,000 decrease.

     MR. BACON:  What's happening here is that the rates to West Coast are increasing and their rates to the other customers are decreasing.  And in actual fact, the difference between the amount that's payable to West Coast and the difference payable to the customer is, essentially, the double-counting.

     MR. MILLAR:  You'll have to help me out a little bit more, and maybe just I'm not familiar enough with this material to follow you.  But you're saying that West Coast -- pardon me, Sifto owes you an additional $274,000?

     MR. BACON:  That's right.

     MR. MILLAR:  And we'd be looking to refund the customers about double that?

     MR. BACON:  That's correct.

     MR. MILLAR:  So --

     MR. BACON:  Okay.  If you actually go to my exhibit, my affidavit of March 12, 2005, table 3, under page 10.

     MR. MILLAR:  And I see that that's where we get the $274,000, but maybe I'm just not bright enough to figure this out.  I'm having some trouble as to how you get -- why the retroactive decrease is double the amount owing.

     MR. BACON:  I'm just going to try and take you through that.

     MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I thought that was the whole answer.

     MR. BACON:  No.  You'll see that the distribution owed to West Coast Huron Energy from Sifto is $948,000.

     MR. MILLAR:  I'm sorry, where is that?

     MR. BACON:  This is on table 3.

     MR. MILLAR:  Yes, I've got you.

     MR. BACON:  Okay.  Well, essentially, except for the

$2,000 a month of administrative charges that we talked about, which is included in that, you take $948,000 and you take $96,000 off of that, which gives you about $850,000 in increased distribution charges to Sifto.  That whole $850,000 will be credited back to customers.  Okay?  That's the start.


But of the 850, they also will have to have a cost-of-power increase, because Sifto's cost of power has gone down.  


So it's a little complicated, I must admit.  But up to the time of market-opening, you actually have to adjust the cost of power for everyone as well.  And so there's $850,000 of distribution adjustment, and that offsets an increase in cost of power by about $300,000, to get you to the 531 on the chart.

      Now, is that -- I could also add that there's a cost-of-power adjustment there of 452,646, but that includes the double-count on the diversity credit, and you have to take that out of there.

     MR. MILLAR:  I see.  Okay.  That is clearer to me than it was before.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  That may not be saying much.

     MR. BACON:  This is a very complicated case.

     MR. MILLAR:  No, I understand.  I think what maybe would be helpful to the Board, and I don't know how hard this would be to do, but would you be able to take an undertaking to break down the calculation?  I think you've made a stab at it from the numbers that are already in this chart, but it seems that some of the numbers aren't there.

     MR. BACON:  Specifically for the fourth column?

     MR. MILLAR:  Yes, that’s right, to get us from the 274 to the 531.

     MR. BACON:  I actually had that down already.

     MR. MILLAR:  All right.  Would you be able to provide that to us by way of undertaking, and that will save me from trying to figure out the math.  So that will be J1.3.

UNDERTAKING NO. J1.3:  TO PROVIDE BACKGROUND CALCULATIONS FOR THE CHART IN EXHIBIT K1.7, SPECIFICALLY THE NUMBERS SHOWN IN COLUMN 4
     MR. MILLAR:  Okay, let's put that unpleasantness behind us and move on.

     MR. BACON:  I think that's name of the game, actually. 

     MR. MILLAR:  I have a couple of more questions on the power factor.


You'll recall this morning I was asking Mr. Snelson about what I saw as, I guess, a discrepancy between your numbers and his numbers, and you may recall I took him to your affidavit.  I believe it was paragraph 8, on page 4, and reading out that line again, you say:



"As shown in table 3 below, the power factor



refund is estimated to be $221,169."


And then when we looked at Mr. Snelson's affidavit, I believe it was tab D to the 2006 affidavit, he had come up with a number just over $141,000.  And I asked him if he could reconcile those numbers, and I think he suggested that maybe I should put that question to you.  So I'll do that, and ask if you're able to help us with the discrepancy between these two numbers.

     MR. BACON:  I'll give you the simple answer, and hopefully that will give you the answer.  If not, we'll have to dig deeper.


In actual fact -- and I preface that this is not an issue for us.  We just have to work out the numbers, okay. 

But my understanding, if you go to Mr. Snelson's evidence of February 2006, under tab D, and it's Exhibit D, page 3.  Do you have that?

     MR. MILLAR:  Yes, I do.

     MR. BACON:  You'll see how he calculates the power factor, basically, from market-opening onward.  And the interesting thing is that, and I might be incorrect in my calculations, but he's only applying the distribution kilowatt rate.  Sifto is also charged retail transmission on a kilowatt basis.  So I'm assuming there's a power factor penalty on that as well, because it's on a kilowatt base, because the retail transmission is also charged in the kilowatt base.  Is that clear?  I've got nods from most people but, sorry --

     MR. MILLAR:  I'm advised that that is clear, though not necessarily to me.  Okay.  I'm going to leave that.


I'm skipping around here because most of my questions have already been answered in the direct examination.


If I could ask you to turn up table 1 under Mr. Snelson's affidavit; that was at page 8.  We spent some time going through that in my cross-examination of Mr. Snelson.  This is the February 2, 2005 affidavit.

     MR. BACON:  That's correct.

     MR. MILLAR:  And you'll probably recall I went through all these numbers with Mr. Snelson, and in some cases I asked if he thought that West Coast agreed with the numbers.  And rather than going through each individual number here, can you either confirm for me or tell me where you disagree with the numbers that you see in this chart?  And I know you may disagree as to whether or not this chart applies or not, but --

     MR. BACON:  Okay.  To hopefully shut down time, I completely agree with the allocated cost-of-power column. 

No problem there whatsoever, okay?  Because that actually ties exactly to my chart, if you would note or just take a look.

     MR. MILLAR:  Column 4.

     MR. BACON:  Right.


With the revenue, the numbers that are shown there, I agree they are double-counted.  But in our mechanism of trying to fix those double-counts, first of all, the double-count for power factor penalty, we would leave it in the rate, in the model, but we would stop the billing system from doing it.  In actual fact, as Mr. -- as Peter has mentioned, it stops in 2006 with the restructuring of rates.


But putting that aside, to fix the power factor penalty would be to change the billing system.  So, by definition, it doesn't reduce revenue in the RUD model.


The diversity credit amount of $103,454, I totally agree with that, but we're talking a RUD model after market opening.  So you wouldn't make that adjustment.

So the two adjustments there, I wouldn't make, but then I would also add on $24,000, which I talked about before.  So it comes -- if you go back to the very top number, the RUD values of $3,302,005 are consistent with the number in my chart.  And then that revenue would move to $3,326,000, just adding the 24,000 for the administrative charge.

     MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  Okay.  Do you have any more comments on this chart?

     MR. BACON:  No.

     MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  Just a moment, please.

     Just one final set of questions.  In your prayer for relief, and I don't know that you need to turn to it, I'm looking at -- I guess these are the submissions of West Coast Huron Energy Inc. dated March 11, 2005.  

If you care to turn it up, Mr. Chair, Ms. Spoel, I think it's tab 1 to have the evidence binder.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Yes.

     MR. MILLAR:  I'm looking at page 2, paragraph 7B, and

I'll just read it into the record:

         "WCHE requests that the OEB order Sifto to pay 

WCHE within 30 days to have date of the OEB's order in this matter, the sum of $274,190, representing the difference between the amounts billed to Sifto by WCEH for the period of March 1, 2001 through February 28, 2005, under WCHE's previously approved rates, and the amounts that should properly have been paid by Sifto during that period."

And I'm not sure if you'll be able to answer this question, actually.  It's more a question for your counsel that he may wish to consider in his final argument.  But I'll pose the question now so it's on the record, and he can think about it,  And if you want to have a stab at answering it, please feel free to do so.

      I'm wondering what section -- or, pardon me, where the Board would derive the powers to order a lump-sum payment from the customer to an LDC.  And it's not immediately obvious to me where that power lies, but Mr. Sidlofsky may have some input on to that.

      So if you wish to have a stab at it, by all means. 

Otherwise, perhaps Mr. Sidlofsky can address that in his closing arguments, I guess.  So I take it you don't?  No?

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I think they're deferring to you,

Mr. Sidlofsky.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  I see by that shaking of the head that it looks like it's a job for me.

     MR. MILLAR:  Very well.

     MR. BACON:  I don't want my shaking of the head on the record.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  It's too late.

     MR. MILLAR:  And one final question.  Throughout this dispute, and this may be in the pre-filed evidence but I didn't see it so I'll ask the question so the record is clear, obviously there is a dispute between the utility and Sifto as to what the proper amounts to be paid are.  What is the amount -- on what basis has Sifto actually been paying?  Have they been paying pursuant to the Board's order?

     MR. BACON:  That's correct.

     MR. MILLAR:  Okay.

     MR. BACON:  Pursuant, basically, to the information on the approved case in the chart.

     MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, gentlemen.  Those are my questions.


PROCEDURAL MATTERS:

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

     Mr. Smitheman, I did gather that you anticipated coming back tomorrow to complete your cross-examination?

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  Yes.  Excuse me.  I have.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Are there any matters to be dealt with before we adjourn for the day until 9:30 tomorrow morning?

     MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chair, we may wish to address the matter of a closing argument, or would you prefer to wait until tomorrow?

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I think we can do it profitably now. 

It seems to the Panel that the approach that we discussed earlier today would seem to make sentence this kind of case.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Absolutely.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  What we would anticipate is providing the mover in this case, Sifto, until mid-next week, and we can hear submissions on what date that would be, but I'm thinking perhaps Wednesday of next week, provided for an argument from the utility, for, say, Friday following that.

     MR. MILLAR:  This would be written argument?

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  This would be written argument.  And then a reply for Monday following.  And then we would, through the secretary's office, arrange for a half-day in the near future for counsel and whatever parties wish to attend to make a brief presentation, probably no more than

30 minutes, on the strength of the written argument, and to be available for questions from the Panel during that  half-day session.

     Any comments on that from the parties?

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  It seems reasonable to me.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sir, if I could just ask your indulgence for just a moment.  I'm just trying to bring up my calendar here.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Indeed.

     MR. MILLAR:  And, Mr. Chair, if I may, I'm not sure that ...

     [The Board confers]

     MR. MILLAR:  I'm sorry, Mr. Chair.

     If I may, I'm not sure if Board Staff will have any final argument.  But would you envision us providing our argument with Sifto or with the LDC?

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Why don't you advise us tomorrow morning if you expect to have argument on the subject.

     MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  And we'll build that in as needed.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sorry, sir.  Just so I understand, you would be looking at Sifto's written argument by the 8th.  And when you talk about the Friday following for West Coast, is that two days following?

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  The 10th.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  The 10th.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Yes.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And reply?  Well, that would be Sifto's reply, but Sifto's reply by?

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  The 13th.  Close of business in all cases.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  I'm fine with that.  I was just a little concerned about the March break period.  But it looks like at least you're missing that for me, which is helpful.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  My children are all grown, and so

I've lost touch with the March break, but thank you for that reminder.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thank you.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  We will adjourn until 9 -- oh,

Mr. Smitheman?

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  Excuse me, yes.  There is a small matter which might save some time if I address it now, and to properly address it I need to ask about two questions in cross-examination.  So I could start by asking those questions now in cross-examination, and that may be of depending on the answers I get, may be of great assistance in my preparation for further cross-examination this evening.  Otherwise I can wait 'til tomorrow, but I would hope that that wouldn't cause too much consternation, shall we say, tomorrow.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I think that's actually completely within the purview of your discretion.

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  Thank you.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I think you can start your cross-examination now, and without prejudice to the  interests of anyone.  Mr. Sidlofsky, any comment?

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  No, I'm fine with that, sir.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Proceed, Mr. Smitheman.

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  I'll finish by 4.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Well, you control the questions, not the answers.


WESTCOAST HURON ENERGY INC. – PANEL 1; RESUMED:


Peter Ioannou; Previously sworn.


Larry McCabe; Previously sworn.


Bruce Bacon; Previously sworn.

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. SMITHEMAN:

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  Certainly things I don't have control over.   Yes, firstly a question for Mr. McCabe.

     Mr. McCabe, you were asked a number of questions in your examination-in-chief through my friend, and in giving your answer, I noticed that you seemed to be referring to some notes that you have.  Is that correct?

     MR. McCABE:  I'm referring to information I've prepared, yes, sir, or had prepared.

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  Sorry, you're referring to notes?

     MR. McCABE:  I'm referring to notes.

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  Notes that were prepared by you?

     MR. McCABE:  I am knowledgeable about all the notes. 

Yes.  I understand I --

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  Okay.  Were those notes prepared by you or by somebody else for --

     MR. McCABE:  In conjunction with our solicitor.

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  With your solicitor.  All right.  And I would ask that you produce those notes for my inspection.

     MR. McCABE:  These are the notes.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sir, sorry.  First of all, what went into the record is essentially what's in Mr. McCabe's notes.  Those notes were prepared for the purpose of assisting Mr. McCabe in refreshing his memory.  This matter has been going on since 2001.  It's completely unclear to me why my friend would be requesting Mr. McCabe's notes for inspection.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Smitheman, could you provide us with some rationale for your request?

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  Yes.  And I can bring case law to the effect, but I'm entitled to cross-examine on whatever materials witnesses are relying on or have prepared in order assist them to give evidence.  And so that’s why I asked that question earlier with respect to what the witnesses were referring to.  And now I find on cross-examination that the witnesses are referring to certain notes which may or may not be the same as the materials.  


I'm not saying there's anything untoward happening here, but I'm entitled, as counsel cross-examining, to review those notes that have been used in order to provide evidence in-chief to this Board.  And that's why I'd request their production.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  It appeared to me, Mr. Smitheman, that both Mr. Bacon and Mr. McCabe were both -- both had prepared materials to some extent.  But, as Mr. Sidlofsky indicates, they ended up in the record.

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  Yes.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  And I'm wondering if you're seeking to make a comparison between the notes and what was actually testified to?  That's not the purpose of the inquiry?

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  Well, who knows what I'll find, but all I'm saying is that in order to test -- and in some instances, there may be issues of credibility.  In order to test credibility, I should be entitled to review those notes in preparation for cross-examination.  That's the danger a witness has.  When a witness takes the stand with notes, then that witness is subject to being cross-examined on the notes that he brings to the stand.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Sidlofsky?

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sir, it is common practice before this

Board to have notes prepared so that witnesses, in highly technical matters, are able to speak cogently to the Board and save the Board's time and the time of the parties in these proceedings.


My friend will have the transcript.  All he has to do is give his card to the reporter and he will get the transcript this evening.  That is what the witness panel is relying on; that is what West Coast Huron is relying on. 

That is the evidence before the Board.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.  Just a moment, please.

     [The Board confers] 

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sir, just before you make your decision, if I might make one other comment.


I can tell you that there have been changes made to the notes that were prepared in light of the events of this morning.  So the value of those notes at this point is not entirely clear to me.  The individual witness may have changed their notes.  I'm not sure if Mr. Smitheman is looking for a verbatim recitation of what's in the notes; he won't find it there.


I'm sorry, I'll reiterate my earlier comments as well.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Smitheman, we're not inclined to grant your request.  It's not the practice of this Board to require the production of those notes, typically.  There may be examples where that can be seen to be extremely relevant and germane; we don't see that in this particular case.  You're certainly free, in your cross-examination, to explore the preparation of the witness for his testimony.  But we are not inclined to grant your request.  

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  Thank you.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.  Is there anything further?

     MR. BACON:  I'd just like to ask a question.  I want to make sure I procedurally do this correctly, because we're still sworn on this panel.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  What you may want to do is ask Mr. Sidlofsky rather than -- which you may do right now.

     MR. BACON:  Okay.  So I need to know, we can't talk to you at all; right?

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Well, sir, maybe I should address that, even though it normally doesn't -- it normally doesn't get discussed during the session.


I'm well aware of the need to not discuss, or the obligation to not discuss matters relating to the evidence with our witness panel when they're still under cross-examination.  Obviously, Mr. Bacon has been asked to prepare certain material in response to undertakings, and I will certainly be speaking with him about that.  And I'm not aware of any difficulty that the Board has had with that approach; that’s commonly done in this tribunal.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  So long as the communication is restricted to the preparation of the undertakings, I don't think there could be a reasonable objection.  But otherwise, your point is taken properly, Mr. Bacon; that you ought not to be engaged in discussion with Mr. Sidlofsky about the content of your evidence for tomorrow in response to Mr. Smitheman's questions.

     MR. BACON:  Thank you.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Is that fair enough?

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  Yes.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Are there any other matters before we adjourn?  


There being none, we will adjourn until 9:30 tomorrow morning.  Thank you very much.


--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 4:05 p.m.

PAGE  

